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We are proud to present the 2017/18 annual report and 
accounts for NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG). It gives an overview of what we have 
achieved in the last 12 months as we continue to strive to 
make Tower Hamlets a healthier and happier place to live.

This report highlights how we have built on our strengths 
in governance, finance and performance to  ensure high 
quality services that are continuously improving.

Tower Hamlets is a unique, dynamic and diverse 
borough, and our health and social care services reflect 
the needs of our community. Over the last year we 
have continued to make significant progress working 
alongside patients, the public and health and social care 
providers to improve our understanding of what our 
community needs and to develop services that best meet 
those needs.

We continue to improve our services, and now rank 
among the best in key areas of healthcare such as 
diabetes services and dementia care – our dementia 
diagnosis rates remain the second highest in London.

We were shortlisted for the Health Service Journal 
CCG of the Year award in 2017, in recognition of our 
innovative and ground-breaking work. We were also 
shortlisted in the Acute Sector Innovation category, for 
our collaborative work with Barts Health NHS Trust to 
improve care for people with kidney disease.

In January 2018 we were given a rating of ‘outstanding’ 
by NHS England (NHSE) and our system leadership came 
to the fore during a year which saw the seven CCGs in 
north east London come under the leadership of a single 
accountable officer. Each CCG retains its own Governing 
Body and the majority of decision-making still takes 
place at a local level. However, the seven CCGs now  
work collaboratively as the NEL Commissioning Alliance 
where it is in the best interests of patients to do so. A 
good example of this is the work on NHS 111, which led 
to the first jointly commissioned contract to be awarded 
by the seven CCGs.

The 111 contract will see our GPs, nurses, paramedics 
and pharmacists giving clinical and treatment advice 
over the phone. They can also book appointments for 
people with the most appropriate NHS service when 
they need them. The service aims to improve our urgent 
and emergency care services across north east London, 
providing a better service to local people when they 
need it most.

We also made great strides in improving people’s health 
and wellbeing through working in partnership with those 
who use our services, tapping into their personal assets 
and those of their communities, not least through social 
prescribing which involves activities typically provided by 
voluntary and community sector organisations. Examples 
include arts activities, gardening, cookery, healthy eating 
advice and a range of sports.

Introduction
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We pioneered increasing integration of care through the 
Tower Hamlets Together Vanguard and we would like to 
thank all of our partners, the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets, local hospital and mental health trusts, the 
Tower Hamlets GP Care Group, Healthwatch and  
the voluntary and community groups that we have 
worked with over the last year. We have only achieved 
these successes by working in partnership with these 
dedicated professionals.

We would also like to express our immense thanks and 
appreciation to our primary care members, CCG staff and 
members of the public for their ongoing commitment 
and dedication to improving the health and wellbeing 
of local people. We look forward to continuing to work 
together to innovate, explore and improve the health and 
care of people living and working in Tower Hamlets.

Jane Milligan
Accountable Officer
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
24th May 2018

Simon Hall
Managing Director
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
24th May 2018

Sir Sam Everington
Chair
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
24th May 2018
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NHS Tower Hamlets CCG commissions the majority of 
local health services in the borough, including acute 
hospital care (such as A&E and maternity services), 
community care (such as physiotherapy and community 
nursing), mental health services and co-commissions 
general practice in Tower Hamlets.

Other healthcare services are commissioned by different 
organisations. NHS England commissions services from 
independent contractors such as dentists, pharmacists 
and optometrists and also specialised acute services. The 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets (LBTH) commissions 
public health services that help promote healthy living. 
Barts Health NHS Trust is the main provider of acute 
care for Tower Hamlets. Its largest site is the Royal 
London Hospital where local residents receive most 
of their hospital care. Most mental health services are 
provided by East London Foundation Trust (ELFT) and 
the CCG and LBTH jointly commission some mental 
health services ensuring a more joined up approach to 
physical and mental health. The Tower Hamlets GP Care 
Group represents all GP practices and is responsible for 
managing the Tower Hamlets Community Education 
Provider Network (CEPN).

We have formed a partnership with our providers 
called Tower Hamlets Together which is made up of the 

GP Care Group, the CCG, Barts Health, East London 
Foundation Trust, the Tower Hamlets Council for 
Voluntary Service (THCVS) and the London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets. The partnership focuses on delivering 
and improving integrated care in Tower Hamlets so that 
our patients receive more joined up and person-centred 
services.

A significant development in 2017/18 was the 
mobilisation of the Community Health Service alliance 
contract between three Tower Hamlets Providers: Barts 
Health NHS Trust, East London Foundation Trust, and  
the Tower Hamlets GP Care Group (CIC). The new 
contract model has been designed to meet the needs 
of individual patients and benefit the wellbeing of the 
Tower Hamlets population and the local health system. 
This ground-breaking partnership has enabled local GPs 
to work much closer with hospital and community trusts 
to offer patients more joined up health services across 
the borough.

We also commission services from social enterprises and 
the community and voluntary sector, including Compass 
Wellbeing (talking therapies), Accelerate CIC (wound 
care) and St Joseph’s Hospice (last years of life care).

Overview

Jane Milligan
Accountable Officer
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 
24th May 2018

Simon Hall
Managing Director
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 
24th May 2018

Henry Black
Chief Finance Officer 
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
24th May 2018

Services in Tower Hamlets
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We are a clinically-led membership organisation, 
made up of the 36 general practices in Tower Hamlets 
(2017/18). Our organisation is led by GPs and healthcare 
professionals who, between them, have many years’ 
experience caring for patients.

We want to make a real improvement to the health of 
our local people. As a clinically-led organisation, we are 
committed to working with our stakeholders, patients 
and their families – together we make the best use of 
resources and staff across health and social care.

The CCG is responsible for planning and buying most 
healthcare services in Tower Hamlets. It’s our job to 
identify how health services in Tower Hamlets can best 
meet the needs of local people, both now and in the 
future and we have a statutory duty to address and 
reduce health inequalities in the borough. To do this, 
we work closely with clinicians, patients, carers, our 
local authority colleagues and the local voluntary and 
community sector to ensure NHS resources deliver the 
best possible health outcomes for our population, and in 
the most efficient way.

Our GP membership is involved in setting the CCG’s 
overall aims, strategic commissioning direction and 
priorities. Responsibility for detailed planning and 
operational commissioning of local health services is 
delegated to the CCG’s Governing Body.

As a CCG we are always seeking to improve services 
and ensure the financial and other resources we are 
given are used in the best way to commission safe, 
effective and high-quality healthcare for local people. 
People’s experiences and views, good and bad, help 
us to understand what we are getting right but more 
importantly we know if we engage with service users 
we are better able to improve services through our 
commissioning priorities. We have a statutory duty to 
engage with patients and we work hard to ensure that 
the concerns of patients and feedback we receive is used 
to help us to learn and continually improve services.

Our corporate objectives relate to the CCG in its entirety, 
providing the organisation with a clear direction for 
commissioning intentions; they reflect where we are now 
as a CCG, and where we want to be in the future as 
well as our obligation to fulfil our statutory duties. The 
objectives develop our approach to performance and risk 
management, and provide a framework for performance 
management.

They are:

1. To work in partnership to commission high-quality 
hospital services that are accessible, provide the 
appropriate treatment in the right place, and achieve 
good patient outcomes for people of all ages living in 
the borough

2. To commission person-centred, integrated health and 
care services that are sustainable and that equally 
meet the mental and physical needs of our residents

3. To contribute towards a financially sustainable and 
responsive health and care economy which delivers 
value for money and innovation and supports the 
appropriate use of services

4. To support local people and stakeholders to have 
a greater influence on services we commission

5. To promote equality both as an employer and a 
commissioner of health care services

6. To create a high performing and sustainable 
workforce that continuously learns and is engaged  
in delivering our ambitions.

Our Objectives
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Tower Hamlets is unique. Home to around 305,000 

people, the local community is diverse, with 33% from 

White British or Irish ethnic groups and 67% from 

other ethnic groups, the largest of which (32%) is the 

Bangladeshi community. Religion continues to play a 

prominent role in the lives of many local people, with 

65% having a religious belief including 35% of residents 

that identify as Muslim. The borough has a young 

population with 37% of people aged 20-34, compared 

with 20% across England as a whole.

Tower Hamlets also has one of the fastest growing 

populations in London and is expected to reach 

around 354,000 by 2025. The borough is adjacent 

to commercial development, including the site of the 

London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games, Thames 

Gateway and projects in Canary Wharf. The borough 

has seen significant residential development over the last 

few years and this is projected to continue, providing 

opportunities for local regeneration.

The vibrancy of Tower Hamlets is also apparent in 

its physical and cultural assets including the many 

waterways, Victoria and Mile End parks, a variety of 

museums and markets, and the Tower of London 

(from which the borough derives its name). All of these 

elements contribute to the borough’s unmatched sense 

of place, identity and pride.

Our Local Area and Population

Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group
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Reducing Health Inequalities:  
Our Key challenge

Tower Hamlets is a vibrant and dynamic London borough 
- based in the heart of the East End with strong tradition 
of diversity. When we commission services, to meet the 
health needs of all local people, we need to consider the 
following key facts.

Tower Hamlets is:

• Young: 37% of our population is aged between  
20 and 34, compared to 20% nationally

• Densely populated and continues to grow: we have 
around 305,000 residents and this is set to grow to 
354,000 by 2025

• Ethnically diverse: with only 33% of our population 
being from a White British or Irish ethnic group and 
67% from other ethnic groups. The largest of which is 
the Bangladeshi community (32%).

Deprivation

Tower Hamlets is a borough of contrasts, it is both one of 
the most deprived areas in England yet it is also home to 
one the country’s main financial centres in Canary Wharf. 
The level of deprivation in the borough has an adverse 
impact on the health and wellbeing of local people and 
places a significant demand on public services.

However, the population is changing due to the level 
of development within the borough. In 2010, Tower 
Hamlets was ranked the 7th most deprived borough in 
the country with 70% of people living in the 20% most 
deprived areas of the country. In 2015, it was ranked 
the 10th most deprived with 58% living in the 20% 
most deprived areas. This change reflects growth of 
new populations in the borough, but significant health 
inequalities remain. Life expectancy is 7.7 years lower 
for men and 4.3 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Tower Hamlets compared with those 
living in affluent areas.

A significantly higher percentage of households in Tower 
Hamlets are socially rented (40%) compared to the rest 
of London (24%) and, despite the substantial housing 
growth, high levels of overcrowding persist. The borough 
also has less green space than the national average, with 
0.89 hectares per 1,000 people compared to the local 
open space standard of 1.2 hectares per 1,000.

Unemployment remains an issue with 64% of the 
working age population in work, compared to 
69% across London. Just over 3% of the borough’s 
population provide more than 20 hours of unpaid care 
per week and, of that group, more than half provide 
more than 50 hours.

Our Challenges
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8.3% of all  
babies have a low birth weight

Immunisation under 5s is amongst 
the highest in London

Many people living with a 
long-term condition and  
hospital admission rates for 
heart disease and stroke are 
above the national average.

50% who drink alcohol, 
43% have consumption 
patterns that are hazardous

89.2% of children receive the 
second dose of MMR vaccine 
compared to 81.7% in London

 Second highest rate in London 
of under-75 mortality from 
respiratory disease. 

This is twice the 
national average

26.8% of children aged  
10 to 11 years old are obese

By Year 6 this 
increases to 
27.1%

Most people  
in Tower 
Hamlets do not 
die in the place 
of their choice

80% have 
at least one 
chronic 
condition

Compared to London  
average of 7.5%

59% die  
in hospital

Of these  
35% have  
3 chronic 
conditions

Over 80s set 
to increase by 
23% over the 
next 10 years

Figure 1: Tower Hamlets health life cycle

Further information found on https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/health__social_care/
joint_strategic_needs_assessme/joint_strategic_needs_assessme.aspx

Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group
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Health Headlines

Many people in Tower Hamlets are living with a long-
term condition and hospital admission rates for heart 
disease and stroke are above the national average. 
According to the 2011 Census results, 13.5% of people 
in Tower Hamlets stated they had a long-term health 
problem or disability that limited their day to day 
activities (34,300 people). This is slightly lower than 
the regional and national rates (14.1% in London and 
17.6% in England).

Other health headlines include:

• We have the highest child poverty rate in the UK with 
39.3% of children living in poverty

• Life expectancy in Tower Hamlets remains lower  
than rest of country (78.7 years compared to 79.5 
years nationally for males and 82.4 compared to 83.1 
for females)

• 8.3% of all babies born in Tower Hamlets have a low 
birth weight

• A quarter (26.8%) of children aged 10 to 11 years old 
are obese

• Premature death rates from circulatory disease, 
cancer and respiratory disease are among the highest 
in the UK.

Healthy life expectancy

The high levels of deprivation in Tower Hamlets have  
a direct impact on the number of years that people 
remain healthy later in their lives. This means that they 
begin to develop multiple health problems far earlier in 
life than elsewhere.

On average, a man living in the borough starts to 
develop health problems from the age of 61.3 compared 
to 63.3 in the rest of the country. For a woman, it is 55.6 
compared to 63.9. Healthy life expectancy ranks 55th 
lowest for men and third lowest for women among all 
local authorities.

This has an effect on both the demand for health 
services and the complexity of health issues. The annual 
GP consultation rate for adults aged 50-64 in the most 
deprived parts of the borough is up to twice as high as in 
wealthier parts of the country. The problems that people 
go to their GP for help with are also, on average, more 
than twice as complex.

Given the significant health inequalities within the 
borough, the CCG takes a life course approach to 
planning and commissioning services, from birth to the 
last years of life. The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA), produced by the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets Public Health team, supports us to understand 
the health needs of our population better.

Delivery of our Equalities Strategy is overseen by our 
Executive Committee which reports directly to our 
Governing Body and provides assurance on our work in 
this area. The committee is chaired by a local GP.  
We have a nominated lead for equalities on our 
Governing Body and a senior manager drive forward our 
equalities agenda.

Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18
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We are accountable for how we spend public money and 
achieve good value for money for people in Tower Hamlets. 
This is the fifth year of the CCG’s existence and good 
financial control and management continues to be vital.

We aim to improve the health and wellbeing of the 
people in the borough by ensuring that patients and 
their carers experience the highest possible standards 
of health and social care. We have a commissioning 
budget of around £435 million to do this work, which is 
allocated as shown on the chart below.

The financial environment continues to be very 
demanding. Our recurrent programme baseline 
allocation in 2017/18 increased by £11.3 million (3.2%) 
and over the five years as a CCG by 12.8%. However, 
the population has increased by 17% over this period, 
placing ever greater demands on the system.

Nationally, the NHS faces increasing pressures and 
in Tower Hamlets we are no different. Accident and 
Emergency attendances have increased by 5.7% 
compared to last year.

Our main acute service provider, Barts Health, of 
which the Royal London Hospital is the prime hospital 
site in our area, has consequently seen costs of acute 
services rise above expectations. In the year, we have 
been working closely with them to ensure we provide 
efficient, effective services.

The CCG has also been able to invest in schemes to 
develop services to patients further, particularly in 
the community, to help reduce demand on our acute 
hospitals. Some of our key achievements are:

• We achieved the Mental Health Investment Standard, 
which requires us to invest 3.2% above the previous 
year’s spend year on year

• We invested £4m in New Care Models as part of the 
Tower Hamlets Together Vanguard

• Our overall investment growth in the acute sector 
has increased by 13% over the last 5 years to address 
growth in non-elective demand and outpatient 
referral waiting lists

• We saw the first successful year of operation of our 
innovative alliance partnership providing Community 
Health Services

• We continue to invest heavily in Continuing Health 
Care (i.e.for people with life-limiting illnesses) where the 
growth this year has been 12% compared to last year

• We worked very closely with LBTH to ensure we 
utilised the Better Care Fund to support joint working 
across health and social care, bringing the total 
investment to £34m in 2017/18.

The following section shows how we managed our 
money and how we measure our performance.

Our budget includes:

• £186.4 million for hospital care and ambulance 
services, £145.4 million of which is spent at Barts 
Health NHS Trust and a total of £10.1 million spent on 
ambulance services

• £55 million on community health services, £37.8 
million of which is spent on Tower Hamlets 
Community Health Services Contract.

• £49.5 million on mental health services, £39.2 million 
provided by East London Foundation Trust

• £62.6 million on primary care, £44.5 million relates to 
primary care co-commissioning

• £30.7 million on prescribing

• £14.5 million spent on the provision of continuing 
healthcare

How We Spend Your Money

Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group
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As set out in the 2017/18 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs 
were required to hold a 0.5% reserve uncommitted from 
the start of the year, created by setting aside 0.5% of 
the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend 
non-recurrently locally. This reserve was used to offset the 
projected deficits caused by non-recurrent generic drugs 
shortages, as requested by NHS England.

In 2017/18, to comply with the requirements to meet the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan control totals across 
the sector, NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has transferred  
£0.5 million to NHS Barking, Havering and Redbridge 
CCG’s as part of the systems risk agreement across  
North East London.

2017/2018 Service Budget (£000’s)

Acute (186,494)

Mental Health (49,486)

Community (54,988)

Continuing Care (14,477)

Other Non Acute (3,852)

Prescribing (30,667)

Primary Care Co-Commissioning (44,478)

Other Primary Care (18,079)

Reserves (7,724)

Corporate (12,251)

Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18
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Our CCG has been rated ‘outstanding’ by NHS England 
– the only CCG in London in 2017/18 to be given 
this rating. Our success lies in the hard work of our 
dedicated, highly skilled workforce, working closely 
with colleagues in partner organisations. We have an 
exceptional Governing Body and clinical leadership, and 
ensure we involve our patients and public in all of our 
planning and service monitoring.

In addition, last year we were was shortlisted for two 
awards in recognition of our innovative work. The 
Health Service Journal Awards recognise and celebrate 
achievements in the NHS and our CCG was among 
the finalists in the CCG of the Year category and also 
shortlisted in the Acute Sector Innovation category.

Despite being the tenth most deprived English borough, 
the last 12 months has seen the CCG:

• praised by the CQC and NHS England for strengths in 
system leadership, governance, finance, performance 
and quality

• ranked second in London for percentage of people 
with controlled diabetes (44.6%) and second in 
London for dementia diagnoses

• save £432,000 through transforming diagnostic services

• pioneer integrated care through the Tower Hamlets 
Together Vanguard

• reduce consultations and improved health and 
wellbeing through social prescribing

• rated best in London and achieving sustained 
improvement in cancer 62-day referral to treatment 
target, in partnership with Barts Health

• introduce an innovative virtual chronic kidney disease 
clinic, reducing waiting times for specialist opinion 
(from 64 to 5-10 days)

• introduce an innovative local outcome-based Quality 
Outcomes Framework offer that other CCGs are 
looking to adopt

• lead payment reform development through 
Tower Hamlets Together Vanguard, blueprint now 
adopted by our local STP and being used to develop 
accountable care systems locally

• with a highly engaged, satisfied, committed 
workforce, involved in establishing our future vision, 
with 85% of employees recommending us as a place 
to work.

We are also proud of the hard work of all our GP 
member practices; at 1 April 2018, all GP Practices in 
Tower Hamlets were rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’.

Some of the other highlights of our work over the last 
12 months are detailed below:

Supporting GP practices to improve patient care and be 
the very best in London

In 2017/18, we launched a programme to empower GP 
staff to make continuous improvements in the quality of 
services they provide The Enabling Quality Improvement 
in Practice project to improve primary care in Tower 
Hamlets has led to 26 local GP practices using live 
operational data to make the most efficient use of staff 
and resources. The aim is to help them become more 
resilient in dealing with growing workload pressures 
while continuing to provide high-quality services to 
patients. We aim to take the learning from programmes 
like EQUIP and staff engagement and scale and spread 
new developments.

During 2017/18 we reshaped our enhanced services 
contract with GP networks to fully align it with the 
borough wide GP Federation (Tower Hamlets GP 
Care Group) and, in April 2018, all GP Network staff 
transferred to the GP Care Group in order to optimise 

Our Achievements

Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group
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the support to networks but support the creation of a 
new joint body between the CCG and GP Care Group 
called the Primary Care Development Collaborative 
(PCDC).

Social prescribing programmes were introduced in all GP 
practices to link patients with wider, non-medical sources 
of support to improve their health and wellbeing.

We also worked to deliver a strong estates and 
infrastructure strategy, with improvements such as the 
development of the new St Paul’s Way Medical Centre  
in Mile End.

The CCG is proud of the excellent performance of all 
Tower Hamlets’ GP practices last year, with all rated 
‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ by the Care Quality Commission. 
This performance is not only the best in London but also 
the best overall ratings the borough has achieved since 
the CQC started inspecting all GP practices.

Immunisation

THCCG has achieved high rates of immunisation for 
priority, high-risk groups of people:

• Flu: at-risk groups – 56.3% (second highest in 
London) compared to 47.1% average in London and 
48.6% in England as a whole.

• Over 65s: 74.2% (highest in London) against a 
London average of 65.1% and 70.5% across England.

• MMR at 2 years old (seventh highest in London) – 
90.1% compared to London average of 86.4% and 
England average of 91.9%.

• MMR at 5 years old (2 doses) – 89.2% compared to 
81.7% across London as a whole and 88.2% across 
England (Tower Hamlets is third highest in London).

Mental health

Through improved mental health services, we have 
supported 763 people through user-led mental health 
projects, and worked with patients to design a new 
primary care mental health service to support local 
people to have more control over their wellbeing. We 
have also achieved the lowest bed occupancy for mental 
health patients in London while supporting people 
with mental health issues to live independently – more 
than 148 people have moved from registered care into 
permanent independent accommodation with support.

Success for innovative e-clinic for chronic kidney disease

The e-clinic at The Royal London Hospital enables the 
hospital’s kidney experts to view GP patient records 
and provide instant advice to GPs about next steps. 
The innovative e-clinic was developed to improve 
identification and management of chronic kidney 
disease as well as reduce outpatient appointments. It 
has also reduced the number of patients that need to 
see a specialist clinician face-to-face by 31 per cent and 
saved the local NHS over £30,000. Patients who do 
need hospital care now wait one week for assessment 
compared to previous waits of almost three months.

Integrated health records

NHS and social care organisations need to ensure that 
clinicians have access to the right medical information 
about patients, at the right place and at the right time. 

The east London Patient Record (eLPR) which is our local 
shared care record is now being used as a part of core 
clinical behaviour in east London with clinicians accessing 
it over 16,000 times a week. Integrating health and 
social care records helps CCGs to improve the overall 
care they provide and ensures more joined up care.

Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18
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Health and wellbeing strategy

The CCG works closely with Tower Hamlets Council 
and other partners across the health, voluntary and 
community sectors as part of the Tower Hamlets Health 
and Wellbeing Board. After seeking input from local 
residents, carers, health professionals and patient 
groups, the Board has developed a health and wellbeing 
strategy to tackle inequalities and improve health and 
wellbeing for everyone in the borough. Read the strategy 
on the council’s website.

Community Health Services alliance

People in Tower Hamlets are seeing improvements in 
community health services. Our innovative contract 
approach has been local GPs working closely with 
hospital and community trusts to ensure services meet 
the needs of patients and benefit the wellbeing of the 
wider Tower Hamlets population. The new service model 
launched in April 2017 has already started to deliver 
results, including:

• emergency admissions to local hospitals down against 
the national average

• average length of hospital stays continuing to fall as 
community-based nursing and rehabilitation teams 
focus on supporting people in their homes.

Working with partners across north east London

Since September, we have been working with other 
north east London CCGs at a strategic level as the NEL 
Commissioning Alliance to maximise health outcomes 
for local people. The new arrangements mean that Jane 
Milligan (previously Tower Hamlets CCG Chief Officer) 
was appointed accountable officer for our CCG along 
with the other six CCGs in north east London. This 
year saw the first of these new arrangements in action 
as the Alliance of the seven CCGs awarded their first 
joint contract – a new integrated NHS 111 and clinical 
assessment service. Our formal Joint Commissioning 
Committee started in May 2018.

Working with partners locally

The CCG is playing a leading role in Tower Hamlets 
Together – a partnership of local health and social care 
organisations that aims to improve health and wellbeing 
in the borough. Along with Tower Hamlets GP Care 
Group, Barts Health, East London NHS Foundation Trust, 
Tower Hamlets council, and Tower Hamlets Council 
for Voluntary Services, the CCG is working to provide 
services in a more integrated and coordinated way – 
reducing duplication and improving the experience and 
outcomes for the people who need them.

Tower Hamlets Partnership

As part of the innovative Tower Hamlets Partnership, 
organisations and community groups representing 
every corner of Tower Hamlets are working together: 
the council, NHS, education institutions, police and fire 
service, housing associations and representatives from 
the business community, faith leaders and community 
groups. Together we are building a stronger, more 
inclusive and fairer borough.

Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group
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NHS England rate the performance of clinical 
commissioning groups (CCGs) using a tool called the 
Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF). Anybody 
can view these ratings, by looking at the My NHS 
website. The IAF plays an important role for our CCG 
because it helps us to improve the outcomes for patients 
who live in Tower Hamlets and use NHS services.

CCG Assessment Framework

The Improvement and Assessment framework covers 
four areas of the CCGs performance. These are:

• Better Health: this section looks at how the CCG 
is contributing towards improving the health and 
wellbeing of its population, and bending the demand 
curve;

• Better Care: this principally focuses on care redesign, 
performance of Constitutional standards, and 
outcomes, including in important clinical areas;

• Sustainability: this section looks at how the CCG is 
remaining in financial balance, and is securing good 
value for patients and the public from the money it 
spends;

• Leadership: this domain assesses the quality of the 
CCG’s leadership, the quality of its plans, how the 
CCG works with its partners, and the governance 
arrangements that the CCG has in place to ensure it 
acts with probity, for example in managing conflicts  
of interest.

Each domain comprises a number of indicators  
(60 indicators in total). The clinical priorities covered 
identified within the framework are:

• Diabetes

• Cancer

• Dementia

• Learning Disability

• Maternity

• Mental Health

The CCG annual assessment categories mirror those 
used for CQC and Ofsted assessments: Outstanding; 
Good; Requires Improvement; Inadequate.

Performance Analysis
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How did we progress in 2017/18

In July 2018 the CCG was given a rating of ‘outstanding’ by NHS England (NHSE) for the quality of the CCG 
leadership, this took into account areas such as corporate governance, staff engagement, effectiveness of working 
relationships in the local system and the Workforce Race Equality Standard.

Outlined below is the current position for NHS Tower Hamlets CCG against the clinical priorities.

Better Health

Diabetes IAF Assessment Diabetes patients that 
have achieved all the NICE 

recommended treatment targets

People with diabetes diagnosed
less than a year who attend a 
structured education session

Outstanding
45.1%

97.2% participation in the NDA.
22.8%

97.2% participation in the NDA.

Better Care

Dementia IAF Assessment Estimated diagnosis rate for 
people with dementia

Dementia care planning and post 
diagnostic support

Outstanding 85.4% of the estimated number 
of people with dementia have a 

recorded diagnosis

85.4% of patients with dementia 
whose care plan has been reviewed 

in the preceding 12 months

Cancer IAF 
Assessment

Diagnosed at 
early stage

People with urgent 
GP referral having 1st 
treatment for cancer 

within 62 days

One year 
survival rates 

from all
cancers

Cancer patient 
experience

Requires 
improvement

45.2% 81.8% 68.3% 8.8 is the average score 
given by patients asked 
to rate their care on a 

scale from 1 to 10
(10 being the best)
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Learning 
disability

IAF 
Assessment 

Reliance on specialist 
inpatient care for 

people with learning 
disability and/or autism

Proportion of people 
with a learning disability 
on GP register receiving 

a health check

Completeness of the 
GP learning disability 

register

Requires 
improvement

27 per million registered 
population 

39.1% of people on a GP 
learning disability register 
received an annual health 

check during 2016/17

0.3% of the population 
(all ages) are included on 
a GP learning disability 

register 

Maternity IAF 
Assessment 

Maternal 
smoking at 

delivery

Neonatal 
mortality and 

still births

Women’s 
experience of 

maternity services

Choices in 
maternity services

Requires 
improvement

3.7% of 1,180 
mothers smoked 

at delivery

5.7 stillbirths 
and neonatal 
deaths per 

1,000 births

69.8 is the score out 
of 100 based on six 

survey question

60.7 is the score out 
of 100 based on six 

survey questions

Mental 
Health

IAF 
Assessment 

Improving access 
to psychological 

therapies - recovery

Improving access 
to psychological 
therapies - access

People with 1st episode of 
Psychosis starting treatment 

within 2 weeks 

Requires 
improvement

58% of people who 
finished treatment 
moving to recovery 

(50% target)

4.1% of people who 
have depression and/or 
anxiety disorders who 
have started treatment 

(4.2% target for Q4 
2017/18)

87.3% of 165 people with 
first episode of psychosis 
starting treatment with a 

NICE-recommended package 
of care treated within 2 weeks 

of referral
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Focus on mental health

Mental health remain a key area for us. An outline of 
performance in 2017/18 is given below – overall CCG 
performance is good although there are several areas 
where further work will be required during 2018/19.

• Early Intervention Psychosis: The CCG reported an 
overall performance of 90.7% (137/151) during the 
period April-February 2017/18 (latest published data), 
achieving the 50% national standard. Rolling 12 
month projections based on available data suggest a 
year-end performance of approximately 88.4%.

• Dementia diagnosis rate: The CCG reported an 
overall performance of 83.4% during the period 
April-March 2017/18, achieving the 66.7% dementia 
diagnosis rate national standard.

• IAPT: Latest published cumulative IAPT data at 
Q3 2017/18 reported that 12.1% Tower Hamlets 
service users accessed treatment, below the 12.4% 
plan. Indicative local data for Q4 suggested an 
annual performance of 16.81%, meeting both the 
planned access rate and national standards. The IAPT 
recovery rate at Q3 was 53% above the 50% target; 
indicative local data for Q4 showed that 55.2% IAPT 
service users had moved to recovery, with an annual 
performance of 54.7%, achieving 50% national 
target. Published IAPT waiting times data for April-
January 2017/18 reported that the CCG achieved 
95.6% seen within six weeks (target 75%), and 
99.3% seen within 18 weeks (target 95%). Indicative 
local data for March 2018 suggests that the CCG has 
achieved both waiting times standards with an annual 
performance of 96% seen within six weeks and 
100% seen within 18 weeks.

• Care Programme Approach (CPA) seven-day 
follow-up: The CCG reported an overall performance 
of 90.3% between Q1-Q3 2017/18 (latest 
published data), below 95% national target. This 

underperformance due a change in reporting practice 
by ELFT during Q3 to bring Trust national reporting 
precisely in line with national guidance. ELFT is 
working to improve performance, although the trust’s 
chief operating officer reported in April 2018 that 
the trust did not expect to be in a position to report 
achievement in Q4. 

• Gatekeeping: The CCG reported that 100% of 
Tower Hamlets service users in crisis were assessed 
before admission to psychiatric inpatient wards during 
the period Q1-Q3 2017/18 (latest published data), 
above the 95% target. Indicative data suggests a year-
end performance of approximately 99%.

• The children and young people’s eating disorder 
service: CCGs are expected to deliver the 95% urgent 
and routine standards by 2020/21. Eating disorders 
data is monitored by NHSE over a rolling 6 month 
period due to the low volume of referrals. During the 
last six months (Q2 & Q3 2017/18), 100% Urgent 
referrals were seen within 1 week, and 98.4% Routine 
referrals were seen within 4 weeks; both above local 
operating plan target at Q4 2017/18. Rolling 12 month 
projections based on available data suggest a year 
end performance of approximately 100% for urgent 
referrals, and 99.2% for routine referrals.

• Children and young people’s access rate 
standard: During the period April–January 2017/2018 
(latest published data) approximately 18.4% children 
with a diagnosable mental health condition accessed 
NHS commissioned services, below the 30% operating 
plan target for 2017/18. Indicative data suggests a 
year-end performance of approximately 20.9%; this 
figure is subject to change. NHSE has organised a 
number of workshops and webinars to support local 
commissioners and providers improve data reporting 
through the Mental Health Services Data Set (MHSDS).
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Leadership Probity and 
corporate 

governance

Staff engagement 
index

Progress against the 
Workforce Race Equality

Standard

Effectiveness 
of working 

relationships 
in the local 

system

Quality of 
CCG

Leadership

Fully 
compliant

3.8 engagement 
index, on a 1 to 5 

scale  
(5 is good)

0.2 score (higher scores 
indicate higher differences, 

0 indicates equality)

74.6 score, 
based on 
a 59.4% 

response rate

Green rating

Outlined below is the current performance for our CCG against the leadership and sustainability domains.

Sustainability In-year financial 
performance

Utilisation of the NHS e-referral 
service to enable choice at first 

routine elective referral

Local digital roadmap in 
place?

Green rating
Assessment of whether 

CCG is likely to meet plan

37.7%
below target of 80%

33.8%
below target of 80%

Further information on how the CCG is progressing against the clinical priority areas can be found at  
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/performance-indicators/organisations
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An outline of provider performance is given below, 
however it is worth setting the context in terms of 
performance in three key areas: A&E waiting times, 
referral to treatment and performance against the 62- 
day target from urgent GP referral to first definitive 
treatment for cancer.

• In A&E, the percentage of patients admitted, 
transferred or discharged from A&E within four hours 
is 87.28%. This is an improvement on the 2016/17 
position of 84.38%.

•  For referral to treatment (RTT) within 18 weeks: 
93.43%. It is important to note this does not include 
Barts Health NHS Trust data (it is Tower Hamlets CCG 
performance at all other providers outside of Barts 
Health). This is because Barts Health has not been 
reporting RTT data nationally during 2017/18, but 
will return to reporting for 2018/19. We are working 
closely with Barts Health to modernise our approach 
to outpatients and referrals, and from July 2018 all 
referrals from local GPs to the Royal London will be 
expected to be done electronically.

•  In cancer services, performance against the 62-
day target from urgent GP referral to first definitive 
treatment for cancer is 82.01% (April 2017 - February 
2018 – March data not yet been published at time of 
writing).

Barts Health NHS Trust

In June 2017, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
undertook a review of the ‘well-led’ domain for Barts 
Health NHS Trust. The rating for ‘well-led’ was ‘requires 
improvement’. This is an improvement from the previous 
‘inadequate’ rating. Overall Barts Health Trust has moved 
from ‘inadequate’ to ‘requires improvement’.

The Royal London Hospital

In 2016 maternity and gynecology had been rated 
as ‘inadequate’ by the CQC, with an overall rating of 
‘inadequate’ in the safe and well-led domains. In terms 
of being effective, it was rated ‘good’, and it was rated 
as ‘requires improvement’ in the caring and responsive 
domain categories. Following an unannounced re-
inspection of June 2017 the CQC gave the service an 
overall rating of ‘requires improvement’, it was rated 
‘good’ for being ‘effective’ and received a rating of 
‘requires improvement’ in the safe, caring, responsive 
and well-led domains.

The CCG holds monthly clinical quality review meetings 
with the Royal London site and East London Foundation 
Trust and quarterly meetings with our smaller providers. 
These meetings include a review on a monthly basis of 
progress against quality improvement plans, monitoring 
of incidents and complaints and assurance on patient 
safety and experience. For the Royal London site of Barts 
Health the CCG has implemented ‘live’ clinical quality 
review meetings that include a walk around of the 
clinical areas prior to the actual meeting.

The CCG participate in peer reviews with the Royal 
London site and this provides both the site team and 
the CCG with further intelligence on patient safety and 
experience and areas for improvement.

The CCG undertakes quality assurance visits to all its 
main providers to monitor patient safety and experience. 
Feedback is then given to providers and assurance that 
actions and recommendations are being implemented 
are followed up at clinical quality review meetings and 
further quality assurance visits.

Supporting our Providers to Improve Performance and Quality
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St Bartholomew’s Hospital

The hospital provides a range of local and specialist 
services: including treatment of heart conditions, 
cancer, fertility problems, endocrinology and sexual 
health conditions. The hospital has a minor injuries unit 
and a specialist Heart Attack Centre, but does not offer 
A&E services.

The CQC inspected St Bartholomew’s Hospital in May 
2017. The overall rating was ‘good’ in all the domains 
inspected by the CQC.

During 2016-17 the site management structures have 
embedded at each site and Barts Health refreshed its 
‘Safe and Compassionate Care’ and developed a further 
improvement plan titled ‘Safe and Compassionate Care 
2’, building on improvements in the original plan. The 
refreshed plan demonstrates how Barts Health plans 
for quality improvement to go hand-in-hand with how 
they will improve their financial position, and it shows 
how progress will lay the foundations for tackling wider 
strategic challenges in the years ahead.

Although we have seen many improvements, Barts 
Health still faces many challenges. Referral to Treatment, 
A&E wait times and the number of ‘never events’ still 
need addressing. We will continue to work alongside 
Barts Health through monthly clinical quality review 
meetings and quality assurance visits to wards to 
monitor the improvement of the quality of services, 
patient safety and patient care.

Further information about Barts, including the Newham 
and Whipps Cross ‘Safe and Compassionate’ programme  
and its progress  can be found on their website 
https://www.bartshealth.nhs.uk/our-journey

East London Foundation Trust

In September 2016 East London Foundation Trust (ELFT), 
our provider for Mental health services and the majority 
of the community services in the Alliance, was rated by 
the Care Quality Commission (CQC) as ‘outstanding’ in 
their provision of high-quality care. The CQC stated that 
ELFT is a well-led trust with a visionary leadership that 
welcomes innovation.

Community Services Alliance

In April 2017, the Alliance Partnership (Tower Hamlets 
GP Care Group Community Interest Company (CIC), 
Barts Health NHS Trust and East London NHS Foundation 
Trust) began providing community services to people in 
Tower Hamlets.

This partnership has supported local GPs to work much 
closer with hospital and community trusts to offer 
patients more joined up health services across the 
borough and reduce duplication. The CCG is committed 
to working with the Alliance Partnership to improve 
community services for our local population.

The CCG are members of the Tower Hamlets Together 
Quality and Safety committee which is a multi- partner 
committee. The main purpose of the committee meeting 
is to promote system intelligence gathering, share 
learning across the local health and social care system 
and influence change and improvement in patient safety 
and experience.
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Primary care

Tower Hamlets primary care services have been rated as the best in London by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
as the borough currently has the highest percentage of practices rated as providing an ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ 
quality of care to patients. See below:

CQC Performance 2016 - 2017 2017 - 2018

General Practices rated as ‘outstanding’ by CQC: 8% 8%

General Practices rated as ‘good’ by CQC 83% 89%

General Practices rated as ‘requires improvement’ by CQC 6% 3%*

General Practices rated as ‘inadequate’ by CQC 3% 0%

The CCG supports practices’ efforts to improve the 
quality of their services by offering training and 
promoting quality improvement initiatives, as well as 
engaging with patients and other stakeholders on service 
development projects. As of April 2018, all practices in 
Tower Hamlets were rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ 
by the CQC as the final practice rated as ‘Requires 
Improvement’ closed its doors on 31st March 2018.

The CCG have developed a bespoke package of quality 
support to primary care and also a quality dashboard 
which provides intelligence on patient safety and 
experience in primary care. All general practices within 
Tower Hamlets have been rated good or outstanding by 
the CQC.

We work closely with our local authority colleagues 
to monitor and improve quality in our nursing and 
residential homes. Multi stakeholder quality assurance 
visits to nursing and residential homes are undertaken 
on a regular basis and a package of support is offered to 
those requiring improvement.

*This practice closed on 31.3.18
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NHS Staff Survey Performance

Tower Hamlets CCG took part in the national NHS Staff 
Survey for the third time in 2017, achieving a response 
rate of 80%, higher than in previous years. The results 
of the staff survey over the three years has been largely 
positive. In comparison, we score better than other 
CCGs in over a quarter of the questions.

Areas in which we scored above average include: 
staff feeling valued and satisfied with recognition 
and responsibility, managers listening and acting on 
feedback and involving staff in decisions, appraisals 
identifying performance and learning objectives and the 
organisation taking positive action on health and well-
being. Additionally, we scored higher than other CCGs 
on the proportion of staff who would recommend the 
organisation as a place to work. Positive scores were also 
reported for immediate managers, who encourage team 
working, provide support and take an active interest 
in employee well- being. The results showed that the 
organisation’s top strengths are:

• Effective use of patient and service user feedback to 
inform decision-making

• Staff motivation

• Quality of appraisals

• Communication between senior management 
and staff

• Staff recommending the CCG as a place to work

While our results overall are very positive, we recognise 
that there are areas for development. Less positive scores 
were found in the following areas: staff being able to 
meet the conflicting demands on their time at work, 
staff working extra hours, feeling unwell due to work-
related stress and coming into work when not feeling 
well enough.

The results of the staff survey have been considered in 
detail by staff across the organisation; during an away 
day, at team meetings and in 1-1 meetings with line 
managers. At our bi-annual away day staff celebrated 
our successes and then focused on areas of development 
by deciding on priority areas for action. This feedback 
will be used to develop a formalised action plan to 
address the areas of development from the staff survey 
and will be rolled out in partnership with staff to ensure 
engagement and knowledge of progress. This action 
plan will have a particular focus on staff health and 
wellbeing which we know is important not only to our 
staff and the organisation, but also the wider NHS and 
health economy.

Stakeholder survey

In 2017, a stakeholder survey was conducted looking 
retrospectively at the past year. Stakeholders included 
36 GP member practices, Healthwatch, voluntary and 
patient groups, NHS providers, the local council and 
neighbouring CCGs. The CCG also had the opportunity 
to invite wider stakeholders that it considered to have 
important relationships with.

We received responses from 65% of our stakeholders, 
which is an improvement from previous years and 
compares well against other CCGs that have a similar 
patient population to Tower Hamlets. Stakeholders were 
asked: how well they feel the CCG engages and involves 
their stakeholders, patients and the public; how confident 
they feel about its leadership; the CCGs’ competence 
and decision-making abilities; how well it manages the 
performance and quality of healthcare services that it 
commissions and about its plans and priorities.
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The survey results have told us that there is significant 
improvement since 2016 in a number of areas including:

• 92% of stakeholders responded that the CCG is a 
‘very / fairly effective’ local system leader

• In the ‘Leadership’ section, 77% ‘strongly agreed 
/ agreed’ that the CCG has the necessary blend of 
leadership skills and experience

• 77% said they ‘strongly agree / tend to agree’ that 
they had confidence that the CCG monitors the 
quality of the services it commissions in an effective 
manner, a staggering improvement from 2016 where 
only 55% responded this way

• Further improvements included the 84% of 
respondents that responded ‘Strongly agree / tend to 
agree’ that they have confidence in the CCG to act on 
feedback it receives about the quality of services.

Tower Hamlets CCG aims to put the voice of local people 
at the heart of everything we do. We believe services 
should be based on local need and focus on the priority 
issues for our community. That is why involving patients 
and the wider public is central to service planning and 
provision, vital for service improvement and leads to a 
more positive experience of care. Involving local people 
also gives them a greater sense of ownership of the 
health services they use and their own health.

We have sought to ensure that health services are 
provided in a way which promotes the NHS Constitution 
and are in line with our own Public and Patient 
Involvement Strategy. We have promoted awareness 
of the NHS Constitution and our Public and Patient 
Involvement Strategy among patients, staff and members 
of the public through our website, key meetings and 
other channels.

We have the core values of the NHS Constitution 
embedded within our own Constitution. We take great 
care to engage with patients and the wider public to 
ensure that they have a genuine influence in how  their 
local services are designed and delivered. There are seven 
key principles and values set out in the NHS Constitution 
that guide the way it operates. Principle four states 
that “the NHS aspires to put patients at the heart of 
everything it does.”

As part of this principle, we have actively encouraged 
feedback from the public, patients and staff and 
actively use it to improve services. We also strive 
to include ‘seldom heard’ voices by working with 
the community and voluntary sector and other key 
stakeholders to use existing links into communities who 
might struggle to access services or navigate the health 
system due to a variety of complex factors. Our aim is 
to create a system that provides equal access for all, 
regardless of background, and we recognise the value 
of community leaders and organisations in helping us 
to achieve this aim.

Working together with our 
patients and public
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We have held our providers to account regarding the 
standard of patient involvement that they offer by 
embedding key patient experience indicators within 
contracts and have worked with patient groups to 
identify meaningful patient experience indicators.

We ensure patients are able to make informed decisions 
regarding their care by giving them robust information 
about the healthcare services available in the borough 
and ensuring they have choice and control over their 
care. We also ensure that information about care 
is offered in a variety of formats and languages to 
make sure everyone is able to access and understand 
information about their care.

We have commissioned services that deliver patient-
centred care and support, planning for people with long-
term conditions and mental health needs who are most 
at risk of a hospital admission. A key feature of this is 
the care planning process where the patient and clinician 
work in partnership to develop a plan addressing the 
patient’s current and future needs. This care plan is then 
shared across all providers involved in the patient’s care.

We have also invested heavily to support patients taking 
control of their health by:

• keeping our member GPs informed about quality and 
performance standards at our local providers, so they 
can have informed conversations with their patients at 
the point of referral

• undertaking extensive engagement with patients, the 
public and stakeholders to inform higher standards 
of co-production in the transformation of a variety of 
local healthcare services. This included working with 
new groups of residents including the ‘working well’ 
and people who use the NHS less frequently and in 
different ways than other population groups.

• working in partnership with the Tower Hamlets 
Together partners to establish a system wide approach 
to engagement and involvement.

• developing an outcomes framework in partnership 
with local people and reflecting all aspects of what 
local people need to live well in Tower Hamlets.

We work closely and share best practice with our 
neighbouring CCGs and partners on patient and 
public involvement, and have done this increasingly 
over the past year as a result of the publication of the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP). We have 
worked with the seven CCGs in north east London to 
inform the public about the STP and have collaborated 
on workshops and events designed to gather insight 
about how specific services might be improved across 
the STP footprint.

Engagement with Tower Hamlets Together – towards a 
system-wide approach

Over the past year, we have taken a new approach 
to public engagement events. We have worked with 
our Tower Hamlets Together partners (East London 
Foundation Trust, Barts Health, Healthwatch, Tower 
Hamlets Council for Voluntary Services, London Borough 
of Tower Hamlets and the GP Care Group) to create 
a ‘whole system’ approach to engagement and have 
combined our efforts to hold quarterly events where 
the whole system can engage together and create a 
streamlined mechanism for patients to have their say 
about all health services in Tower Hamlets.

Working with THT partners in this way has also paved 
the way for the development of a THT wide engagement 
framework, which outlines how local people will 
be involved in the emerging THT structures. This is 
an ambitious plan whose aim is to embed patient 
involvement in the key decision-making structures and 
gives local people a voice where it matters most in the 
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system. It also brings all of the THT partners together to 
coordinate engagement work, reduce duplication and 
share best practice that plays to strengths and expertise 
within the THT partnership.

Community Commissioning Panel

2017/18 was the first full year of the Community 
Commissioning Panel (CCP) being in place at the CCG. 
The aim of our CCP is to bring a local voice to decision-
making and help shape healthcare in Tower Hamlets 
from a patient’s perspective. Twelve people from diverse 
backgrounds who live in Tower Hamlets make up the CCP.

The CCP provides the patients’ voice and perspective 
on appropriate committees, focus groups and patient 
panels that feed into our decision-making processes. This 
enables us to improve and enhance services and identify 
areas for improvement. The CCP also provides challenge 
where appropriate to ensure the needs of service 
users, patients and carers remain central to the way we 
work while providing support to THCCG to maximise 
involvement of key community groups and individuals.

In order for the panel to influence commissioning 
in a meaningful way, it is integrated into our formal 
governance structure and is chaired by the PPI lay 
member who sits on the Governing Body. This lay 
member is able to champion the work and purpose 
of the panel to the Governing Body and to other key 
stakeholders.

This year, the CCP helped shape over 20 pieces of work. 
Some key achievements include:

• shaping Patient and Public Involvement plans for areas 
such as urgent and primary care and reviewing the 
design of consultation tools such as questionnaires;

• shaping commissioning intentions for 2017-18;

• influencing decision-making, for example helping 
to support and shape the idea of a new community 
based opticians’ service.

• improving and enhancing services, for example 
contributing ideas to what the Tower Hamlets Health 
and Wellbeing club should include within its primary 
care offer.

• identifying areas for improvement, for example 
helping to identify how engagement plans and 
materials for the Learning Disabilities strategy 
consultation could be improved.

• providing challenge to ensure the needs of service 
users, patients and carers remain central to the 
way we work, for example in suggesting new ways 
of communicating with people on the Integrated 
Personal Commissioning Programme and supporting a 
re-design of marketing materials.

Your Voice Counts events

Tower Hamlets CCG participated in three Your Voice 
Counts engagement events, which brought together 
all of the Tower Hamlets Together partners to engage 
on topics as a health system rather than as individual 
providers. These events built on the previous success of 
the Your Voice Counts events that were held last year 
and they represent a move toward engaging as a whole 
system rather than as individual providers.
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The benefits of engaging as a whole system reduces 
engagement fatigue for patients, reduces duplication 
across the system and creates an opportunity for all 
providers and members of the public to have a  
shared conversation about improving healthcare  
across Tower Hamlets.

A key principle that all partners who attend the event 
adhere to is collecting feedback through creative 
means like drawing, voting systems, games and other 
interactive methods that appeal to people of all ages and 
backgrounds. The three events held this year gathered 
a wide range of valuable feedback from the public and 
specifically focused on older people, children, young 
people, and maternity services.

Patient Leadership Programme

In 2017/18 Social Action for Health was commissioned 
for a fourth year by the CCG to recruit, develop and 
support local people to become Patient Leaders. The 
Patient Leadership Programme enables local people to 
get involved and take a leadership role in commissioning, 
reviewing and designing services at a strategic level with 
the CCG and other health partners.

This year, Patient Leaders were given a virtual tour of the 
NHS, which allowed them to directly access and better 
understand the part of the health care system in which 
they were interested in leading change. Additionally, 
Patient Leaders attended workshops and trainings to 
learn about the variety of services the NHS offers and 
to meet CCG commissioners and other stakeholders 
who could support them with their learning and 
development. This cohort of Patient Leaders also helped 
to shape the next steps for the programme, as the CCG 
is keen to ensure the patient leaders are continually 
supported and are able to stay involved and link in with 
new opportunities within Tower Hamlets.

Patient stories

We have promoted the involvement of patients, their  
carers and representatives in decisions that relate to 
their care in a variety of ways, including filmed ‘patient 
stories’ that focus on a specific patient’s experience of 
using a health service in Tower Hamlets.

The patient stories are shared at the beginning of each 
Governing Body meeting and provide patient insight 
into a specific service while providing suggestions for 
improvement or the opportunity to share best practice 
and success stories both internally and externally. The 
videos are also available to view on the THCCG website 
http://www.towerhamletsccg.nhs.uk/our-work/tell-us-
your-story.htm

The patient stories are another way that THCCG  
ensures that patients’ voices and opinions are not only 
heard but are given the platform to influence change 
wherever possible.

NHS England Assurance Rating

In the website-based review of our Public and Patient 
Involvement activities, undertaken by NHS England in 
Sept 2017, we achieved a Green Star Rating, one of only 
two given in the London region. This assessment reflects 
the innovative approaches we have taken to meeting our 
statutory duty to involve patients in all that we do.   
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Tower Hamlets Together – sustaining the partnership

Tower Hamlets Together (THT), is a partnership of 
local health and social care organisations with an 
ambition to improve the health and wellbeing of people 
living in Tower Hamlets. In addition to the CCG, the 
organisations involved are:

• Local Borough of Tower Hamlets

• Tower Hamlets GP Care Group

• East London NHS Foundation Trust

• Barts Health NHS Trust

• Tower Hamlets Council for Voluntary Service

In 2015, Tower Hamlets was awarded ‘vanguard’ status 
by NHS England as part of its multi-specialty community 
provider programme. The programme received support 
from NHS England over three years to develop innovative 
models of care, which other parts of the country can 
then learn from.

Three years on and the Tower Hamlets Together 
Vanguard has been a vital in driving forward our 
ambitions to become one of the best interconnected 
health and care systems in the country, with a strong 
emphasis on ‘population health’. Our outcomes 
framework and emerging working structures have 
been aligned across the needs of our population rather 
than across diseases or services, and highlights forward 
thinking to support people and their communities and 
help them lead fulfilling lives.

From joint planning, joint commissioning, and alignment 
of operational health and care teams in the community 
our plans have involved working together to design 
services that address local priorities. At the same time 
working with wider planning footprints to ensure our 
system as a whole secures the best possible outcomes 
and maximum value for our collective investment.

We are developing a joint infrastructure, including a joint 
outcomes framework, which encompasses more co-
location and the joint management of staff, as well as a 
shared focus on services for the whole course of life. We 
are further strengthening the framework for involvement 
of communities in the work of Tower Hamlets Together.

During 2017, we reconfirmed our commitment to an 
integrated health and care system as outlined in our 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The Tower Hamlets 
Together partnership, underpinned by the new Alliance 
contract, will continue to develop and mature to  
deliver this commitment. Increasingly, integrated 
commissioning will strengthen the system leadership  
and focus on how best to deliver outcomes for local 
people in Tower Hamlets.

Our integration partnership will remain focused on 
Tower Hamlets. We will work at tri-borough, STP and 
London-wide levels where this makes sense. With this 
in mind, we have been working towards developing our 
end state vision as we transition to a sustainable post-
vanguard structure.

New governance arrangements for the THT Board 
include the Board providing support to the Tower 
Hamlets Health and Wellbeing Board to discharge its 
duty under section 195 of the Health & Social Care Act 
2012 to encourage health and social care services to 
work in an integrated manner.

The THT Board does not have any formally delegated 
responsibilities from any of the respective partner 
organisational boards; however, representatives of each 
of the respective partner organisations will represent 
the views of their organisation on relevant matters, with 
everyone working together in accordance with THT 
values, vision, mission and priorities.

In Tower Hamlets, there has been a strong history within 
local general practice of joining up and using best 
practice to deliver improvements. This has increased 

Partnership Working
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through being part of the national programme as our 
Vanguard status has helped us think, even more, about 
system-wide intelligence. East London NHS Foundation 
Trust continues to roll out quality improvement 
methodology in partnership with the Institute for Health 
Improvement (IHI) and we are sharing this learning and 
supporting the development of these skills across the 
Tower Hamlets Together system.

We have been reviewing the governance and 
accountability structure of THT and its role has 
enhanced. This is to sustain and embed the partnership 
model following completion of the Vanguard 
programme in April 2018.

The changes have been:

• the THT Board reports directly to the Health and Well 
Being Board since September 2017

• to develop a formal relationship with the CCG and 
LBTH’s Joint Commissioning Executive (JCE)

• NHS Tower Hamlets CCG revised its constitution to 
invest in Tower Hamlets Together the responsibility 
to oversee the development and delivery of the 
CCG’s commissioning strategy. The CCG has not 
delegated any statutory responsibilities to the THT 
Board, but the Board will makes recommendations 
to our Strategic Finance & Investment Committee, on 
the development and delivery of the commissioning 
strategy

• a detailed organisational development programme 
to support the creation of a refreshed governance 
structure, reaffirming our vision, priorities and our 
commitment to the partnership

• the THT Board’s terms of reference has been refreshed 
to reflect the development of our integrated care 
system.

• a 2017/18 Operating Framework and system outcome 
measures have been developed

• to develop new substructures for particular aspects 
of the partnership’s work, in order to improve the 
effectiveness of the partnership, while taking into 
account the autonomous nature of THT’s member 
organisations.

The three Tower Hamlets Together workstreams

The legacy of vanguard and greater cross-system 
working has given us the opportunity to think about 
how we organise our services around the population 
that we serve, as we enter the next phase of Tower 
Hamlets Together. In order to do this and avoid 
duplication we have developed three workstreams to 
bring stakeholders together from across the THT partners 
around the following population groups:

• Children – Born Well and Growing Well

• Healthy adults – Living Well

• Complex adults – Promoting Independence

These workstreams replace similar forums that exist in 
individual organisations and have gone through a phase 
of organisational development to ensure they fully 
achieve the ambition of having a system-wide approach. 
The next steps are to develop the capability and capacity 
for the Board and workstreams to lead the partnership, 
supported by a review of existing system enablers.

Healthwatch Tower Hamlets

Tower Hamlets CCG works in close partnership with 
Healthwatch Tower Hamlets to ensure that local people 
play a central and meaningful role in improving the 
health and wellbeing of the local community. We have 
demonstrated this by working together on a series of 
engagement and community insight initiatives and 
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by supporting the ‘Your Voice Counts’ events that 
Healthwatch organises on a quarterly basis. These 
events bring together all of the Tower Hamlets Together 
partners to engage with the public on key topics as 
a system rather than as individual organisations. The 
CCG works closely with Healthwatch and partner 
organisations to make these events interactive and 
meaningful, for local people to have their say and 
provide feedback to service providers in Tower Hamlets.

Wellbeing Strategy

The Health and Wellbeing Board sits at the apex of 
the borough’s health and social care partnerships, and 
includes senior representatives from the local authority, 
the CCG, Barts Health, East London Foundation Trust 
(ELFT) and the local voluntary sector. As part of its work, 
it has been consulted on the CCG’s Annual Report and 
has supported its development to ensure it accurately 
communicates the CCG’s and Health and Social Care 
sector’s successes and challenges in 2017/18 and the 
CCG’s contribution to the delivery of the joint health 
and wellbeing strategy.

The Tower Hamlets Health and Wellbeing Board has 
identified integration of health and care services as 
one of its five priorities for 2018/19 and beyond. The 
THT system will support the Tower Hamlets Health and 
Wellbeing Board with delivering against this priority, 
including the discharge of its duty under s.195 of the 
Health & Social Care Act 2012 to encourage health and 
social care services to work in an integrated manner.

There is a recognition from Tower Hamlets CCG and 
the London Borough of Tower Hamlets that both 
organisations need to work together to tackle the 
wider determinants of health and wellbeing. Working 
in partnership will create real opportunities to learn 
from each other’s experiences and lessons and create 
a more joined up coherent system of care for the 
residents of Tower Hamlets. This will improve outcomes 

and service user experience, two of the key priority 
areas for staff and senior management. It should also 
drive improvements in the quality of care and services 
commissioned and in turn deliver efficiencies and  
savings necessary to keep the system sustainable now 
and in the future. Tower Hamlets is driving joint working 
through the work of the Joint Commissioning Executive, 
which is another key component of the Tower Hamlets 
Together system.

Joint Commissioning Executive (JCE)

The Joint Commissioning Executive established in 
September 2016 to provide clear leadership to deliver:

• better alignment of our resources across Health, Adult 
Social Care, Children’s Services and Public Health

• increased joint working, the development of joint 
strategies, joint commissioning and system changes

• investment plans, such as the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
and Integrated Better Care Fund (IBCF)

• effective oversight and management of market risk 
and market development

• more integrated management arrangements headed 
by a new joint Director of Integrated Commissioning.

The JCE reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and has a formal relationship with the Tower Hamlets 
Together Board, as well as to relevant executive and 
governing bodies of the council and CCG. It has 
proven to be an effective forum for discussion and the 
development of shared strategic goals and operational 
programmes under the BCF and has decision-making 
powers in respect of the BCF, as agreed and set out in 
the BCF s75 agreement.

The JCE oversees the Better Care Fund (BCF), which is 
run by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
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Government and the Department of Health, which 
requires CCG’s and local authorities to pool budgets and 
to agree an integrated spending plan. In Tower Hamlets, 
we have used the BCF to provide a joint commissioning 
framework for the services provided to adult residents 
within the integrated care programme. In 2017/18 the 
BCF pooled budget doubled to approximately £45m, 
from the previous year, as initiatives and budgets aligned 
to schemes within our previous BCF plan are brought 
together to give greater transparency to the total 
resources available. This, in turn, is leading to better 
collaboration in designing system change. Led by our 
Joint Commissioning Executive, this pooled resource 
is set to increase during the course of this plan, as the 
new Joint Commissioning Frameworks are agreed, and 
greater joint working is forged across not just adults’ 
aspects of health and care, but also Public Health, 
children’s health and care and housing adaptations.

As we continue to increase the proportion of resources 
that are pooled, and extend integrated working to new 
service areas, we will develop a joint infrastructure. This 
will include a joint outcomes framework, fully aligned 
frontline council and health services, which encompass 
more co-location and the joint management of staff, as 
well as a shared focus on services.

Transforming Services Together

Tower Hamlets CCG has joined forces with Newham 
CCG, Waltham Forest CCG and Barts Health NHS Trust 
to develop the Transforming Services Together (TST) 
programme that is looking to invest more than

£100 million in new health services and buildings over 
the next five years.

Over the next 15 years, more than 270,000 people are 
expected to move into east London -the equivalent of 
another London borough. Without change, this would 
require the equivalent of 550 extra beds and one million 

more primary care appointments – something that is 
unsustainable.

More than 1,000 people including clinicians, key 
stakeholders and members of the public got involved in 
the creation of the TST programme. The work has now 
been published in a Strategy and Investment Case. The 
programme aims to shift activity into fit-for-purpose 
settings of care, often close to home, enable better 
prevention of ill health, help people access high quality, 
appropriate care earlier and more accessibly.

The TST programme continues to focus on ensuring 
that patients get the appropriate tests for their clinical 
condition with a reduction in unnecessary testing where 
high volume, low value clinical tests have 
been identified.

We have also begun to scale up innovative ways for 
patients to obtain specialist care and advice from 
hospital consultants by using online consultations and 
strengthening the communication channels between GPs 
and hospital consultants. TST has also worked with East 
London Healthcare Partnership (ELHCP) to win a place 
within the NHS England International GP recruitment 
scheme to recruit more GPs to the local area. TST has 
also collaborated with East London Health and Care 
Partnership and Queen Mary University of London to 
develop a physician associate postgraduate course. 
The students on the course are currently undertaking 
placements at GP practices across the Tower Hamlets area.

Healthy London Partnership

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG, along with all London CCGs 
and NHS England (London) funded Healthy London 
Partnership in 2017/18 to bring together the NHS 
in London and our partners to deliver London’s 10 
ambitions to transform healthcare for all Londoners.

Our partners include the Mayor of London, Greater 
London Authority, Public Health England, London 
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Councils and Health Education England. We believe that 
collectively we can make London the healthiest global 
city in the world by uniting all of London to deliver the 
ambitions set out in Better Health for London: Next 
Steps and the national NHS Five Year Forward View.

During 2017, we were tasked with setting up the Urgent 
and Emergency Care Improvement Collaborative on 
behalf of NHS England (London), NHS Improvement 
(London) and The Association of Directors of Adult 
Social Services to transform the way that Londoners 
receive unplanned urgent care and support. This includes 
preventing the need to go to hospital, supporting them 
to become medically fit and well in hospital and then 
helping them to go home as soon as possible.

The aim of the collaborative is to bring together leaders 
from health and social care working to define what 
improvement work needs to happen in London, drawing 
on the best practice around sustainable improvement 
and working with the leaders in this field. Key to this 
has been providing data to drive change, and as part of 
this work we ran three days of surveys of hospital bed 
occupants across 17 London hospital sites to understand 
where our improvement efforts need to be targeted.

Other highlights during 2017/18 have included working 
with partners to launch Thrive LDN, a joint new citywide 
movement with the Mayor of London to improve mental 
health and wellbeing. Community workshops and 
problem solving booths were held across London as part 
of Thrive’s ‘Are we okay London?’ campaign which has 
reached 15.5 million people so far.

The findings from our year-long engagement with 
Londoners on childhood obesity, the Great Weight 
Debate, were published in 2018. Nine out of 10 
Londoners who responded to the Great Weight Debate 
survey said tackling London’s childhood obesity epidemic 
should be either the top or a high priority for the capital. 
The findings are being used to inform every London 

borough’s childhood obesity strategy and have informed 
the Mayor’s London Plan which includes a policy to 
prevent new hot food takeaways from opening within 
400 metres of a school.

In 2017 we worked with Bexley and north and central 
London CCGs, along with NHS England, to trial the 
first NHS online pilots in the country. NHS online offers 
local people an alternative way to contact their GP and 
access online GP consultations when necessary. We also 
worked on behalf of London CCGs with NHS England 
(London region) to raise awareness of GP online services 
and GP extended access services across London. Nearly 
two million Londoners are now registered for GP online 
services and every London borough offers evening and 
weekend appointments to people in their local area.

Through our partnership working, the Mayor of 
London, Secretary of State for Health Jeremy Hunt, 
London Councils and NHS, Public Health and wider 
health and care leaders signed the London Health and 
Care Devolution Memorandum of Understanding in 
November 2017. This deal paves the way for improving 
the health and wellbeing of all nine million Londoners. 
Devolution provides the foundations to enable us to 
improve the way health and care services are delivered in 
the capital at a faster pace.

Through the work of the pilots over the past year we 
have learned much more can be done to prevent ill- 
health, support people to make healthier choices and 
to join up health and care particularly when we work 
closely together. We are now leading engagement with 
system leaders to co-design the future of health and care 
across London which began with an event in December 
2017. The London Health and Care Strategic Partnership 
Board (SPB) has been established to provide strategic 
and operational leadership for London- level health and 
care activities. Healthy London Partnership will continue 
to support the Board and the wider system to implement 
devolution and wider health and care transformation 
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goals. We are committed to ensuring health and care 
leaders are updated on progress and are also involved in 
shaping the next steps for London.

Finally, at the beginning of 2018 we began working 
with partners including the Mayor of London, London 
Councils, Public Health England and the NHS, on a joint 
plan to cut rates of new HIV infection and eliminate 
associated discrimination and stigma. This followed the 
signing of the ‘Paris Declaration on Fast-Track Cities 
Ending the AIDS Epidemic’ in January 2018.

During 2018 Healthy London Partnership will evolve to 
formally support all of the health and care partners to 
work together and strengthen their governance and 
delivery arrangements, so as a city we can implement 
the devolution agreement and our wider health and care 
transformation goals, to make sure we deliver on our 
commitments to make London the world’s healthiest city.

NHS NEL Commissioning Alliance

The seven CCGs in north east London; Barking and 
Dagenham, City and Hackney, Havering, Newham, 
Redbridge, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest are 
now working together as the NHS NEL Commissioning 
Alliance. The CCGs have come together to deliver 
commissioning efficiencies and develop an aligned 
approach to working with providers to ensure long-
term sustainability and support the delivery of effective 
integrated care systems.

By working together as an Alliance the CCGs will:

•  Harness the benefits of greater collaboration across 
the system with CCGs, NHS organisations, local 
authorities and the voluntary and community sector 
working closer together

• Reduce duplication by adopting common approaches 
and doing things once where it is appropriate and 
beneficial to do so. Some things are done really well 
in north east London, and this is an opportunity to 
learn from each other and share best practice

• Make sure that commissioning is truly integrated 
around local people and will improve both services 
and health outcomes

• will really drive and improve outcomes for people who 
live and work across north east London.

At a north east London level, it is expected that the 
seven CCGs will work together to:

• commission services jointly – e.g. London Ambulance 
Service and integrated urgent care, specialist 
commissioning

• align commissioning strategies (e.g. urgent and 
emergency care, mental health, planned care)

•  provide assurance to our regulators

The vast majority of what CCGs do will be locally led, 
working closely with local people and communities, the 
council and the voluntary sector. This focuses particularly 
on improving local health outcomes.

A major part of the new alliance arrangements in 
2017/18 was the development of the new NEL Joint 
Commissioning Committee (JCC). This committee will 
consider items common to all CCGs – for example, 
how the CCGs make sure that its urgent care works 
in a similar way or their contracting with hospitals. For 
a limited number of areas, it will also take decisions 
on services that are commissioned once for NEL. The 
JCC started meeting formally, in public, in May 2018. 
All CCGs and local authorities are represented on the 
committee.
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Waltham Forest CCG chair Anwar Khan is chair of the 
Joint Commissioning Committee, while Barking and 
Dagenham CCG vice chair, Kash Pandya, has been 
appointed as lay member and vice chair of the JCC.

The East London Health and Care Partnership

The East London Health and Care Partnership launched 
in 2017, with a shared mission to protect vital services 
and provide better treatment and care built around the 
needs of local people, safely and conveniently, closer to 
home. The partnership’s main priorities are:

• to help local people live healthy and independent lives

• to improve local health and care services and 
outcomes

• to have the right staff in the right place with the right 
resources to meet the community’s needs

• to be a well-run, efficient and open partnership

The Partnership is not seeking to take away local control 
of services. It recognises that while east London as a 
whole faces some common problems – such as the high 
rate of preventable illness and a shortage of clinicians 
and care staff – the make-up and characteristics of the 
area vary considerably and services must continue to be 
tailored and managed at a local level.

The Partnership as a whole will drive forward the things 
that can only be achieved by all of the councils and NHS 
organisations across east London working together. This 
includes:

• good quality urgent and emergency care for the area

• the availability of specialist clinical treatments

• a better use of buildings and facilities

• the recruitment and retention of doctors, nurses and 
other health and care professionals

• an increased use of digital technology to speed up the 
diagnosis and treatment of illness

• ways of working that put a stop to duplication and 
unnecessary expense

Significant improvements are being made by joining 
services up and people are starting to feel the benefit. 
East London now has some of the best care provision 
and facilities in the country, and the involvement of 
councils is enabling services to be aligned with the 
development of housing, employment and education, 
all of which can have a big influence on people’s health 
and wellbeing. However, there is still much to do. For 
more information visit www.eastlondonhcp.nhs.uk
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Safeguarding

The CCG has a statutory duty regarding safeguarding 
adults and children. We have discharged these functions 
with regard to the need to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children. We fulfil our safeguarding children 
and vulnerable adults responsibilities and have secured 
the expertise of all statutory safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adults’ posts, namely Designated Professionals 
and Named GP, with a clear line of accountability to our 
Governing Body.

The Designated Professionals and Named GP represent 
the CCG at the Local Safeguarding Children and Adults 
Board and respective Board sub-groups. The CCG also has 
safeguarding children and adults commissioning groups, 
which report into a sub group of the governing body.

Additionally, we have safeguarding policies to ensure 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults is  
considered throughout our commissioning process, 
including compliance section 11 of the Children Act 
2004 requirements.

The CCG ensures that local health providers meet  
their statutory obligations through a range of 
monitoring activities:

• A performance dashboard

• Attendance at health provider safeguarding 
committees

• Ensuring providers have policies and procedures in 
place that enable their staff and their organisation to 
meet their safeguarding adult and children roles and 
responsibilities

• Evaluating health providers Section 11 Children Act 
2004 returns

• Completing quality visits to ensure that staff and 
organisations fulfil their safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adult’s responsibilities

• Provision of safeguarding supervision by Designated 
Professionals to Named Professionals across the  
health economy

• Completion of annual safeguarding reports for 
children and vulnerable adults to the governing body

• Annual safeguarding training for our governing body

We ensure that lessons are learnt from serious case 
reviews (SCR), serious adult reviews (SAR) and domestic 
homicide reviews (DHR) by disseminating key findings 
and learning to our governing body and staff.

We monitor health providers on their action plans, 
recommendations and learning points as a result of SCR, 
SAR and DHR.

Equality and Diversity

The CCG developed a four-year Equality and Diversity 
strategy in 2016 providing a blueprint for creating an 
inclusive environment for all our staff and a framework 
to tackle health inequality in the way we commission 
services over the next four years. The key objectives are:

• establishing a robust evidence base to inform 
commissioning

• improving access to services

• embedding patient and stakeholder involvement in 
commissioning

• developing leadership capacity and competency

The CCG Equality and Diversity Working Group was 
established in 2016/17 to drive the ambitious objectives 
of the strategy and provide assurance to the wider 

Other CCG roles and  
statutory responsibilities
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organisation that the CCG is meeting its duties under the 
Equalities Act 2010. The CCG’s Managing Director is the 
Governing Body’s champion for equality and diversity.

Some of the work during 2017/18 includes strengthening 
links with agencies in the borough that have supported 
us with our equality and diversity learning and 
development needs and commissioning processes. 
We worked with East London Out Project as part of a 
piece of work to improve protected characteristics data 
collection in our commissioned services.

We are also working with some of our providers 
to consider new ways of working to improve our 
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) results – a 
national standard put in place to enable employees 
from black and minority ethnic backgrounds to have 
equal access to career opportunities and receive fair 
treatment in the workplace.

The CCG is also looking at its own workforce to ensure 
that we are creating an environment that is inclusive 
and celebrates equality and diversity. We regularly get 
involved in national campaigns  related to equality 
and diversity such as LGBT awareness month, black 
history month and International Women’s Day. We also 
work closely with Tower Hamlets Council, who have 
shared their staff groups for people with protected 
characteristics to CCG staff.

Staff are encouraged to share, learn, reflect and 
celebrate during these campaigns. Our values drive the 
behaviors we expect from our workforce and we run 
training and engagement sessions on understanding 
equality, diversity and difference and how to work 
together well.

We share opportunities for staff to get involved in 
equality and diversity networks, working with our 
local authority partners and we are using the NHS 
Employers workforce comparison tool to benchmark the 
characteristics of our workforce against our community.

Education, training, research and development

As a CCG, we have a key role in developing the 
commissioning system and improving outcomes by 
using and promoting innovation, research, education 
and training. We know high quality commissioning is 
underpinned by robust research evidence and this is an 
integral part of managing a healthcare system.

In light of this, we have adopted an evidence-based 
approach and culture with our commissioning functions 
that promotes research, innovation, education and 
training as the key delivery mechanisms to achieve 
improvement and better outcomes for patients.

We have promoted innovation, research, education 
and training through our research and evaluation 
strategy, led by a Governing Body clinical lead. We 
aim to build a culture of research locally throug h 
leadership, partnership and professional development 
and education.

We have supported the development of our Community 
Education Provider Network (CEPN) to ensure   our 
future workforce has the right skills for the NHS of 
tomorrow. We continue to fund protected learning 
time sessions for the primary care workforce, which is 
delivered in partnership with CEPN.

As part of our ongoing commitment to an evidenced 
based approach, we commission the Clinical 
Effectiveness Group and Queen Mary University to 
undertake research on our behalf and identify best 
practice in commissioning. We are also members of 
UCLP, an academic science health partnership, in 
which we have actively sought to create and develop 
improvements for local people.

We have embedded a quality improvement approach 
across general practice, supporting practices to use data 
and a learning approach to develop the capacity and 
capability to make sustainable improvements to the care 
and experience patients receive.
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Our workforce is our most important resource and we 
are committed to supporting people to  learn, develop 
and grow. We recognise that people need to learn 
within their current roles and to have opportunities to 
develop their potential for new roles and responsibilities. 
The ongoing learning and development of our workforce 
is especially important in times of change where 
adaptability and collaboration is crucial.

We support the learning and development of our 
whole workforce; our staff, the Governing Body and 
our Clinical Leads. Working in partnership with our 
workforce, we seek to embed a learning culture that 
enables people to develop the skills, knowledge and 
experience needed to achieve the vision and objectives 
of the CCG and maximize their potential. Our appraisal 
process, which has a focus on performance development 
through feedback, allows people to identify their 
learning and development needs and establish a plan 
of activities that will meet those needs. We encourage 
people to undertake learning in development in an 
eclectic way, with a focus on real-life, work based 
situations, such as undertaking new projects, shadowing 
or secondment.

We have a number of staff who have been successful 
in securing places on centrally funded leadership 
development programmes run by the NHS Leadership 
Academy such as the Elizabeth Garrett Anderson and 
Stepping Up programmes. We commission and provide 
a range of learning and development opportunities, 
including offering coaching to enable people to focus on 
their leadership  development  needs in a personalised 
way. This year we ran a development programme that 
focused on developing individual potential and resilience, 
with staff across the organisation participating and we 
ensure that line managers and leaders are equipped with 
the knowledge and skills to support and develop staff.

Engagement of our workforce is particularly important to 
us and we provide regular opportunities for staff  to hear 

updates provide feedback and shape the direction of the 
organisation. We run regular Lunch and Learn sessions, 
where staff have the opportunity to learn about a range 
of topics pertinent to their role (such as conflicts of 
interest, safeguarding adults and children or equality and 
diversity awareness). Our Governing Body has monthly 
organisational development sessions, which allow them 
to focus on specific areas of learning or development. 
For example, this may be about developing new policy 
or direction, evaluating our programmes of work, 
hearing from partners or undertaking group learning 
and  development such as developing partnership 
arrangements or understanding financial analysis.

We are committed to the ensuring the safety and 
welfare of its staff. We work hard to ensure new starters 
comply with the statutory legislation and mandatory 
requirements identified by national and local  guidelines 
and all staff, Governing Body members and Clinical 
Leads must  undertake and keep  up  to date with 
mandatory training requirements.

Our overall 2017/18 compliance rate for mandatory 
training was 92%. The table below shows the 
compliance levels for each of the six mandatory training 
modules.

Mandatory training module Compliance

Information Governance 96%

Safeguarding Adults – level 1 95%

Safeguarding Children – level 1 95%

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 94%

Fire Safety Awareness 87%

Health, Safety and Welfare 93%

Prevent 90%
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Emergency Preparedness Resilience and Response

The CCG has taken appropriate steps to ensure we are 
prepared for dealing with an emergency.

The CCG has incident response plans in place, which 
are compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board 
Emergency Preparedness Framework. In addition, the 
CCG has an assessed level of compliance of substantial 
for the NHS England EPRR Annual Assurance process 
2017/18.

As a ‘category two responder’ we have defined roles and 
responsibilities  under  the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 
with a requirement to act in accordance with the NHS 
Guidance for Emergency Planning 2005.

We fulfil our responsibilities by having plans and 
mechanisms in place to co-operate and support NHS 
England with Emergency, Preparedness, Resilience and 
Response planning and mobilisation of all providers (that 
the CCG commissions) should the need arise.

We maintain business continuity plans for the CCG 
and also provide local knowledge and information as 
needed to NHS England. We also ensure that contracts 
with NHS-funded provider organisations contain relevant 
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience (including business 
continuity) and Response elements.

Sustainability

We are committed to embedding sustainability into 
our operations and to encourage key partners and 
stakeholders to do the same. As a CCG we must ensure 
that the six principles of sustainability, outlined in our 
Sustainability Policy, are embedded into its business 
decisions.

1. Commissioning 
The CCG is committed to taking a whole system 
approach to sustainable commissioning to seek ways 
to reduce costs and resources, produce health benefits 
and embrace sustainable procurement.

2. Waste 
We continue to move towards our aim of becoming 
a paperless organisation by reducing the number of 
printers we have and using ‘follow me’ printing which 
cuts down on unnecessary printing and wastage. 
We have also issued to all staff and Governing Body 
members mobile devices that enable our meetings to 
reduce use of paper.

3. Training 
The CCG is committed to the ongoing training and 
education of its staff so it is able to deliver its services 
in the most effective and sustainable manner possible.

4. Energy 
The CCG is committed to minimising its 
consumption of non-renewable energy sources 
and to continually research alternative sources and 
technology to reduce consumption of energy across 
all activities. We continue to support the widespread 
use of mobile devices and tablets for all staff in 
meetings to reduce power consumption and paper 
usage with the aim of minimising the use of paper. 
We have also increased the use of recycled paper 
and toners for printers. Our staff are encouraged 
to take responsibility for energy consumption and 
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carbon reduction within their work environment, 
including turning off equipment and lights when not 
in use. Our motion sensitive lighting means that we 
do not unintentionally leave lights on overnight.

5. Transport 
The CCG is aware of the environmental impacts 
of its transport operations and will develop a 
comprehensive management plan to focus on 
reducing the environmental impact of transport, 
including unnecessary travel. Good practice in 
sustainable and healthy travel choices is promoted in 
a number of ways. We encourage and support staff 
to take up cycling and reduce driving (in turn reducing 
carbon emissions). Employees also have access to two 
Brompton folding bicycles for work journeys.

6. Procurement 
The CCG advocates that procurement managers and 
suppliers working with the CCG ensure that products, 
services and materials it purchases are as sustainable 
as practical.

Managing Risk

The CCG has assessed its key risks and uncertainties of 
not meeting its above corporate objectives throughout 
the year using the Board Assurance Framework. The 
Assurance Framework sets out the principal risks 
to delivering our objectives and how these risks are 
managed. There is an established method to identify, 
monitor, control and mitigate risks throughout the 
organisation as part of and within our Risk Management 
Strategy and Assurance Framework. The Assurance 
Framework is presented to the Governing Body at 
every meeting, so members can review the risks and 
mitigations and receive assurances that the risks are 
being managed. Further details on risk are included in 
the governance statement in section two of this report.
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2.1.2. Membership Details

Unless otherwise specified, the time period relating to 
the membership of all committees is for the financial year 
and up to the signing of the annual report and accounts.

Details of Chair and Accountable Officer, our 
Member Practices and Governing Body

The Chair of the CCG is Sir Sam Everington, a local GP 
who has worked in Tower Hamlets since 1989 and is 
currently based in Bromley by Bow. Our Accountable 
Officer is Jane Milligan, who has worked locally in 
the NHS for the past 16 years in both provider and 
commissioner roles. Since December 2017, Jane has 
been the Accountable Officer for the North East London 
Commissioning Alliance, the alliance of the seven CCGs 
across North East London.

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG maintains local accountability 
via its Membership, its Governing Body and the role 
of the CCG’s Managing Director. Simon Hall joined 
the CCG as Director of Commissioning in May 2016 
and took up the role of Acting Chief Officer later in 
September 2016. In 2018, Simon was appointed as 
the CCG’s Managing Director, maintaining the CCG’s 
key leadership and local accountability during a time of 
significant development of the local healthcare system in 
North East London. Simon has thirty years’ experience in 
a variety of roles in the NHS at local and national level, 
relating to commissioning, strategy and planning.

Over 2017/18, the CCG’s membership was made up of 
36 local general practices, who are grouped together 
to form eight commissioning networks. On March 31st, 

the All Saints Practice ceased to operate which reduced 
the number of general practices in the CCG membership 
to 35. The member practices and their networks are 
shown below in figure 2, reflective of the year 2017/18. 
A full list of these practices can also be found on the 
CCG website here: http://www.towerhamletsccg.nhs.
uklabout/ccg-member-practices.htm.

Each of the eight networks that make up Tower Hamlets 
elect a representative to the CCG Governing Body to 
make decisions on their behalf and the CCG’s Chair 
and Principal Clinical Leads are elected from these 
representatives. An overview of the composition of the 
Governing Body and its committees, including a full list 
of the Governing Body members, can be found in the 
Governance Statement included in this report.

The CCG demonstrates its accountability to its members 
by:

• appointing independent Lay Members and non GP 
clinicians to its Governing Body

• holding meetings of its Governing Body in public

• meeting annually in public to publish and present its 
annual report and accounts.

2.1 Corporate Governance Report

Jane Milligan
Accountable Officer
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 
24th May 2018

Simon Hall
Managing Director
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 
24th May 2018

Henry Black
Chief Finance Officer 
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
24th May 2018

Accountability Report
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Figure 2: NHS Tower Hamlets Networks 
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Register of Interests

We publish a register of Member’s and Decision Maker’s 
interests on the CCG’s website:  
http://www.towerhamletsccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/CCG-
governance/conflict-of-interest-management.htm

This is updated as and when changes are notified 
to the CCG and is available in hard copy at each 
public Governing Body Meeting and from the CCG’s 
Head Office. The register gives details of company 
directorships or other significant interests held by 
members and senior managers where those companies 
are likely to do business, or are possibly seeking to do 
business with the NHS, where this  may conflict  with 
their managerial responsibilities. Additionally, the CCG 
holds local registers which reflect the interests of all CCG 
employees, contractors working for Tower Hamlets CCG 
and key business partners and is available upon request.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time 
the Members’ Report is approved confirms:

• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the CCG’s auditor is 
unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of 
their audit report

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought 
to have taken in order to make him or herself aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act

We fully support the Government’s objectives to 
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but 
does not meet the requirements for producing an annual 
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in 
the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

Personal Data Related Incidents

We are pleased to report no Serious Untoward Incidents 
during 2017/18 relating to data security breaches that 
required Information Commissioner Notification.

2.12. Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) (the 
NHS Act 2006) states that each Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) shall have an Accountable Officer and that 
Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning 
Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Jane 
Milligan to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG.

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out 
under the NHS Act 2006, Managing Public Money and in 
the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for 
which the Accountable Officer is answerable;

• Keeping proper accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that 
the accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction;

• Such internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error;

• Safeguarding the CCGs assets (and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities);

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers 
under Managing Public Money;
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• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically (in accordance with 
Section 14Q of the NHS Act 2006 and with a view to 
securing continuous improvement in the quality of 
services (in accordance with Section14R of the NHS 
Act 2006; and

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties 
under Sections 223H to 223J of the NHS Act 2006.

Under the NHS Act 2006, NHS England has directed 
each CCG to prepare for each financial year financial 
statements in the form and on the basis set out in 
the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows 
for the financial year.

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable 
Officer is required to comply with the requirements of 
the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department 
of Health and in particular to:

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS 
England, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting 
policies on a consistent basis;

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

• State whether applicable accounting standards as 
set out in the Group Accounting Manual issued by 
the Department of Health have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the 
financial statements;

• Assess the CCGs ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern; and

• Use the going concern basis of accounting unless they 

have been informed by the relevant national body of 
the intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer 
of its services to another public sector entity.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject 
to the disclosure set out below, I have properly 
discharged the responsibilities set out under the NHS 
Act 2006, Managing Public Money and in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment 
Letter.

Disclosure: the CCG deficit has been reported by the 
external auditors under Section 30(b) of The Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014.

I also confirm that:

• As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, 
and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the 
steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information; and

• The annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, 
balanced and understandable and that I take personal 
responsibility for the annual report and accounts and 
the judgments required for determining that it is fair, 
balanced and understandable.

Jane Milligan
Accountable Officer
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
24th May 2018
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Introduction and Context

NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group is a 
body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 
2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006  
(as amended).

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions 
are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging 
the provision of services for persons for the purposes of 
the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, 
required to arrange for the provision of certain health 
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet 
the reasonable requirements of its local population.

As at 1 April 2018, our clinical commissioning group is not 
subject to any directions from NHS England issued under 
Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning 
group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in 
my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter.

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical 
commissioning group is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently 
and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and 
regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within 
the clinical commissioning group as set out in this 
governance statement.

Jane Milligan
Accountable Officer
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
24th May 2018

2.13 Governance Statement
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Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness

The main function of the governing body is to ensure 
that the group has made appropriate arrangements 
for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and complies with such 
generally accepted principles of good governance as are 
relevant to it.

The overarching governance arrangements are set out 
in the Constitution which includes the CCG Governance 
Structure, Standing Orders, Prime Financial Policies and 
the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. The CCG 
has delegated to the Governing Body decision making 
and responsibility for the delivery of all its duties with the 
exception of decisions to:

• Determine the arrangements by which the members 
of the group approve those decisions that are reserved 
for the membership.

• Consider and approve applications  to NHS England  
on any matter concerning  changes to the group’s 
constitution, including terms of reference for the 
group’s  Governing Body, its committees,

• membership of committees, the overarching scheme 
of reservation and  delegated powers, arrangements 
for taking urgent decisions, standing orders and prime 
financial policies.

• Approve of the group’s overarching scheme of 
reservation and delegation.

• Approve the arrangements for identifying practice 
members to represent practices in matters concerning 
the work of the group, and

• Appoint clinical leaders to represent the group’s 
membership on the group’s Governing Body, for 
example through election (if desired).

• Approve the appointment of Governing Body 
members, the process for recruiting and removing non- 
elected members to the Governing Body (subject to any 
regulatory requirements) and succession planning.

• Approve arrangements for identifying the group’s 
proposed Accountable Officer.

The Governing Body has supplemented the governance 
framework by the formal adoption of the Nolan 
Principles on Standards in Public Life, the Code of 
Conduct and Accountability for NHS Boards, the CCG 
Code of Conduct, Standards of Business Conduct Policy, 
Gifts and Hospitality Policy, Anti-Bribery Policy, and a 
Conflicts of Interest Policy.

Using the NHS England guidance “The Functions of 
Clinical Commissioning Groups” and published legal 
guidance, the CCG has reviewed its statutory duties and 
is satisfied that it has in place all the necessary complete 
and lawful arrangements to ensure the proper discharge 
of those functions.

To undertake and ensure the systematic discharge of 
its functions and duties, the membership established a 
Governing Body and complementary sub committees. 
Details of their roles are set out in the following sections.

Our Constitution sets out the principles and processes 
that the organisation will adhere to in delivering its role 
and functions. It describes how the Governing Body will 
operate, confirms matters reserved for Governing Body 
decision, and other areas where certain powers will be 
delegated within the organisation. It sets out our key 
processes for decision making, including arrangements  
for securing  transparency in the decision making of the 
CCG and the Governing Body, and the arrangements for 
discharging its duties with regard to registers of interest 
and managing conflicts of interest. We review these 
arrangements each year to ensure they remain fit for 
purpose, enabling us to do everything within our power 
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Figure 3: NHS Tower Hamlets CCG governance structure

to support the commissioning of the best possible NHS 
services for the residents of Tower Hamlets.

Our governance structure was created to ensure that 
clinicians and patients remain at the heart of decision 
making, whilst delivering on the CCG’s corporate 
objectives. We oversaw a number of internal governance 
changes, where the Governing Body voted to delegate 
authority to new committees, and reorganise the CCG’s 
Governance structure to better correspond with local 
partner structures and provide clarity and focus for two 
areas of high risk to the CCG’s Corporate Objectives; 
quality and finance. The resulting structure saw the 
establishment of the Strategic Finance and Investment 
Committee and the Performance, Activity and Quality 
Committee, with the Finance, Performance and Quality 

Committee stepped down. We abolished our internal 
Transformation Board during 2017/18, enabling the 
Tower Hamlets Together Board to undertake the 
development of commissioning plans as a partnership 
across our local health and social care system.

These changes were reflected in our constitution after 
Membership Approval and submission to NHS England 
in October 2017. Our submission met NHS England 
standards for applying for constitutional changes as per 
NHS England Guidelines published here: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/procedures-for-
clinical-commissioning-groups-to-apply-for-constitution-
change-merger-or-dissolution/
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Governance Developments in North East London

Our 2016/17 Annual Report introduced the new 
approaches in which the NHS in North East London 
proposed to address the significant challenges of 
providing care for a growing population and continuing 
to meet the health needs of some of the most deprived 
areas of the UK. In order to achieve quality services for 
our patients, Tower Hamlets CCG and its partners and 
colleagues in the local health and social care system 
have come to together and recognised a greater need 
for partnership working to address the pressures in the 
health and social care system and achieve the aims of 
the Five Year Forward View and the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan.

In order to facilitate the success of these changes and 
continue the quality provision of care to patients both 
locally and at a system level, governance arrangements 
to support partnership working became a key area 
of work for the CCG in 2017/18. Work began across 
local footprints in North East London to establish these 
new arrangements, namely Tower Hamlets Together 
(the Tower Hamlets Integrated Care System) and the 
establishment of the North East London Commissioning 
Alliance, made of the 7 CCGs in North East London.

NEL CCG Governance Developments

CCGs in North East London acknowledged that in order 
to support much needed developments, adjustments to 
both local and system governance would need to take 
place in order to enhance the ability for CCGs to work 
in partnership with each other for the benefit of local 
patients and promote an aligned commissioning strategy 
to support long term viability of local acute providers 
and all local NHS organisations.

These key developments included:

• Recruitment and appointment of Joint Single 
Accountable Officer for Tower Hamlets CCG, Waltham 
Forest CCG, Newham CCG, Barking, Havering and 
Redbridge CCGs and City and Hackney CCGs.

• Recruitment of Managing Director for each North East 
London CCG

• Decentralising the commissioning of specialised 
services through the appointment of an AO and 
assisting each CCG to join up services and improve 
patient outcomes.

Respective NEL CCG Governing Bodies felt that 
undertaking certain functions once across the NEL 
CCGs would release valuable time and resource 
within the North East London health economy, in 
turn allowing added focus for the local, borough 
based integrated care systems. It was also agreed that 
establishing these governance systems would promote 
working together across larger footprints and reduce 
duplicity in work streams.

The Tower Hamlets Governing Body recognised that the 
appointment of a Single Accountable Officer, with the 
appropriate governance in place, would provide stable 
leadership across a wider geographical location, support 
collaboration between CCGs and would further enable 
essential transformation resources to be transferred to 
NEL. The Tower Hamlets CCG Governing Body also felt 
that it would provide an opportunity to more effectively 
manage the complex issues faced by local providers 
that could impact on the quality of services and equality 
of care being delivered in Tower Hamlets and across 
North East London. The Tower Hamlets CCG Governing 
Body therefore approved the recruitment of a Single 
Accountable Officer in September 2017, with Jane 
Milligan (previously Tower Hamlets CCG Chief Officer) 
being successfully recruited to the role.
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The resulting governance adjustment lead to termination 
of the individual CCG Chief Officer function across 
the NEL CCGs. The Tower Hamlets CCG Governing 
Body noted that it would be imperative that local 
accountability be maintained as each CCG would 
continue to be accountable for its use of public funds 
and delivering its local functions. It was decided that 
local accountability would best be achieved via a new 
role of Managing Director, and Simon Hall, the CCG’s 
Director of Commissioning and Acting Chief Officer, was 
appointed to this role in 2018.

Additionally, a Joint NELCA Commissioning Committee 
was established, with combined membership of NEL 
CCGs and Lay Members to drive areas which will be 
approached at NEL level such as:

• the commissioning of specialist services

• the strategic development of primary care

• the commissioning of services common to all such 
London Ambulance Service (LAS) and services outside 
the scope of the ACSs

• the agreement of acute services strategy including the 
approaches to payment

• workforce development

• development of the framework for commissioning of 
local ACSs

• first line of communication for NHSE on critical areas 
of system performance and change and the delivery 
of the Five Year Forward View (FYFV)

• Committees in Common for functions where CCGs 
wish to collaborate at a system level.

Whilst many of the governance arrangements are 
currently in their infancy or working in shadow form, 

it is a significant step towards working together across 
North East London to meet the needs of current and 
future patients in a sustainable way and close the gaps 
in health, finance and quality of care.

With these changes in motion, it was also recognised 
that local accountability and the achievement of local 
CCG objectives would still need to be maintained and 
supported in order to ensure the development and 
delivery of each local integrated care system, which in 
Tower Hamlets is Tower Hamlets Together.

Integrated Care Systems - Tower Hamlets  
Together Governance

Tower Hamlets CCG is a key partner in Tower Hamlets 
Together (THT), a programme seeking to deliver a 
new model of care for our residents. As a partnership 
programme consisting of providers and commissioners 
of health and social care in Tower Hamlets, it is a 
unique opportunity to work together to meet the joint 
challenges we face in terms of population health, system 
sustainability and quality.

The Five Year Forward View set out the need to deliver 
services in a more coordinated way and eliminate 
barriers that currently exist between services, which 
impact negatively on how patients receive their care. 
In 2014, the vanguard, “Tower Hamlets Together”, 
was established and has developed into a strong 
provider partnership between multiple commissioners 
and providers and has formed the foundations of the 
integrated care system development in Tower Hamlets.

During delivery of the Tower Hamlets Together, it 
became apparent that risks of duplication, both in the 
development of strategy and the delivery of change, 
were present and commissioning decisions could often 
be made in isolation of other transformation projects. 
In order for our residents to fully feel the impact of the 
transformation of services in Tower Hamlets and to 
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continue to support the legacy of the Tower Hamlets Together vanguard, the Tower Hamlets CCG Governing Body 
agreed, with our Local Authority colleagues, for the Tower Hamlets Together Board to take on the oversight of 
transformation activity happening within Tower Hamlets in April 2017. This included a shared view of responsibility 
of system quality and efficiency challenges and the financial investments required. Commissioning intentions and 
transformation agendas for Tower Hamlets will now be built jointly, and developed with our local providers to ensure 
delivery.

The governance structure for this is outlined in the diagram below:

New governance arrangements for the THT Board include the Board providing support to the Tower Hamlets Health 
and Wellbeing Board to discharge its duty under section 195 of the Health & Social Care Act 2012 to encourage 
health and social care services to work in an integrated manner.

The THT Board does not have any formally delegated responsibilities from any of the respective partner 
organisational boards; however, representatives of each of the respective partner organisations will represent the 
views of their organisation on relevant matters, with everyone working together in accordance with THT values, 
vision, mission and priorities. Key changes are outlined earlier in this report.
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The Governing Body

The Governing Body is comprised of both elected and appointed members who have a duty to ensure the CCG 
exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically. The Governing Body takes responsibility for ensuring 
the CCG meets all of its financial obligations, including accounting and auditing, and performs its functions in a way 
which provides good value for money.

The members of the Governing Body are as shown below.

Chair and Clinical Leads

Name Network Responsibilities

Dr Judith Littlejohns 1
Mental Health Lead

Adult Safeguarding

Dr lmrul Kayes 2
Education and Workforce

Equality and Diversity

Dr Victoria Tzortziou- Brown 3 & 4 (until October 2017)

Principal Clinical Lead

Integrated  Care Lead

Last Years of Life Lead

Research and Development Lead

Dr Sarit Patel (until October 2017) 4 (until October 2017) Children and Young People Lead

Dr Isabel Hodkinson 5

Principal Clinical Lead

Prescribing

Primary Care Transformation

Dr Sam Everington 6

Chair of the CCG

Cancer Lead

Quality Lead

Dr Osman Bhatti 7

Community Health Services and  
Continuing Care Lead

Caldicott Guardian

Information Technology Lead

Dr Shah Ali 8 Planned Care Lead
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Practice Members

Name Title Responsibilities

Virginia Patania Practice Manager
Urgent Care Lead

EQUIP Lead

Linda Aldous Practice Nurse
Children & Maternity

Prescribing

Lay Members

Name Title Responsibilities

Julia Slay Lay member

Patient and Public Involvement Lead

Primary Care Committee Chair

Transformation Board  
(Until September 2017)

Remuneration Committee

Mariette Davis Lay member

Lay member for Governance

Audit Committee Chair

Conflict of Interest Guardian

Strategic Finance and Investment

Committee (From August 2017)

Finance, Performance and Quality  
Committee (Until August 2017)

Performance, Activity and Quality  
Committee (from August 2017)

Primary Care Committee

Remuneration Committee

NEL STP Financial Strategy Group

Noah Curthoys Lay member

CCG Vice- chair

Audit Committee

Transformation Committee  
(until August 2017)

Remuneration Committee

Strategic Finance and Investment  
Committee Chair (From August 2017)

Individual Funding Request Panel  
Member

Member of NELCA Joint Commissioning 
Committee
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Independent Clinical Members

Name Title Responsibilities

Mr Tanvir Vandal Secondary Care Specialist

Performance Activity and Quality  
Committee Chair (From August 2017)

Finance Performance and Quality  
Committee (Until August 2017)

Barts Health CQRM

Audit Committee

Primary Care Commissioning Committee

Remuneration Committee

Maggie Buckell Registered Nurse

Transformation Board  
(Until August 2017)

Remuneration Committee – Chair

Children & Young People  
Programme Lead

Safeguarding Children Lead

Primary Care Commissioning Committee

Community Health Services CQRM 
(Chair)

Senior Management Members

Name Role Responsibilities

Jane Milligan Accountable Officer

Accountable Officer

NEL STP Executive lead

NELCA Accountable Officer  
(From December 2017)

Henry Black Chief Finance Officer

Finance

Senior Information Risk Officer

NEL STP Finance Lead

Simon Hall Managing Director

Acting Chief Officer  
(until October 2017)

Acting Managing Director  
(from October 2017)

Managing Director from December 
2017
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Name Role Responsibilities

Ellie Hobart
Acting Director of  
Corporate Affairs

Patient and Public Engagement

Membership Engagement

Organisation Development  
and Education

Corporate Governance

Archna Mathur
Director of Quality and 
Performance

Quality

Performance

Urgent Care

Safeguarding

WEL Winter Director

Andrea Antoine Deputy Director of Finance Finance

Alison Blair
Acting Director of  
Integrated Commissioning

Commissioning and Transformation

Jenny Cooke
Deputy Director of Primary 
and Urgent Care

Primary Care

Urgent Care

Estates and GP IT

Rahima Miah
Acting Deputy Director  
of Commissioning

Commissioning and Transformation

The following members of staff are not voting members of the Governing Body but are part of the  
Senior Management Team:
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Assessment of the Governing Body’s Performance

The CCG has undertaken an evaluation of our meetings, 
governance and priorities, which has also included a 

review of the effectiveness of the Governing Body.

Survey of Members

Governing Body members have been periodically asked 
to complete a questionnaire to assess the effectiveness 
of different elements of the meeting. Questions were 
developed using The UK Corporate Code of Governance 
(2012) and other sources.

In addition the Governing Body has undertaken 
regular organisational development sessions  which 
have included discussion and feedback relating to the 
conduct, content and effectiveness of meetings.

The CCG collated feedback from our Governing Body 
on the effectiveness, timeliness, value and quality of 
the Governing Body meetings that take place in public 
every quarter.

The key themes which the feedback focused on were:

 - Quality and effectiveness of meeting materials 
e.g papers

 - Quality and effectiveness of meeting support

 - Quality and effectiveness of public engagement 
and attendance

 - Quality and effectiveness of meeting layout, 
structure and content

 - Levels of confidence in assurance, reporting 
structures, and performance

Our governing body members responded positively to 
the CCG’s survey engagement, and worked with us 
to improve governing body meetings throughout the 

year. 80% of GB members who responded felt that the 
organisation of the meeting was sufficient, the meeting 
venues were conducive to a productive meeting and 
the meeting was well supported. 80% of Governing 
Body members felt that the papers were effective, 
clearly written, gave clear direction and were fit for 
purpose and 100% of Governing Body members felt 
that the Governing Body meetings and business cycle 
covered relevant topics and focused on key priorities for 
the CCG. Feedback to improve these ratings has been 
actioned for the 2018/19 Governing Body meetings.

Governing Body members were also asked for their 
views on reporting, performance and risk management. 
80% of Governing Body Members felt that reporting 
from the committees into the Governing Body is 
clear, and were confident that the committees were 
conducting their business appropriately in line with the 
CCG’s scheme of delegation. 100% of Governing Body 
responders felt that the meeting allowed time for all 
members to express their views, and felt comfortable 
enough to raise any concerns to a member of the CCGs 
senior management, such as the Chair, the Accountable 
Officer or the Managing Director. 83% additionally felt 
that they were confident that the Governing Body has 
contributed to ensuring that the organisation has a 
robust and effective risk management system.

The CCG thoroughly encourages feedback from our 
Governing Body members to ensure our meetings 
remain fit for purpose, transparent and support the 
Tower Hamlets community to engage with their local 
health services. We have put into action feedback we 
have received in order to improve some areas of our 
meetings, including public attendance and focus on 
new developments in the healthcare system, such as 
Tower Hamlets Together. Governing Body members 
outlined that meeting venues were key to ensuring 
public engagement was effective and the public had 
their voices heard. The CCG experimented with different 
venues, considered disability access, knowledge of the 
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venue in the local community, appropriate costing of the 
venue and area within the community.

The CCG worked with local community spaces and 
organisations to hold our public meetings, and are 
pleased to say that public attendance has increased in 
2017/18, with a significant increase of members of the 
public raising issues for comments from the Governing 
Body. This ensured that the Governing Body remained 
accountable to the public and patients that it serves, and 
fostered a positive dialogue between leadership and the 
local population.

The Governing Body has previously carried out a self-
assessment against the Institute of Chartered Secretaries 
and Administrators code of governance for CCGs. The 
aim was to:

•  provide assurance that the CCG had robust and 
understood governance arrangements

•  establish a baseline of where our CCG was in relation 
to the ICSA  (Institute  of  Chartered Secretary - Code 
of Governance for CCGs

•  enable the CCG to further embed the high  level 
principles.

The Governing Body confirmed that the Clinical 
Commissioning Group was compliant with the six 
principles contained within the code, citing robust 
evidence to support this opinion.The code’s six principles 
are:

1. Clinical commissioning group members and their 
governing bodies understand and support each 
other’s role in effective decision-making with a view 
to improving the experiences of patients and the 
quality of the care commissioned

2. CCGs act collaboratively with a range of stakeholders 
in order to deliver better health outcomes for patients 
and the public

3. CCGs are aware of, and understand, the different 
relationships to be fostered and maintained by the 
CCG when working with other organisations and 
regulators in relation to the local and national health 
economy, and contributing effectively to the greater 
debate on patient safety, quality and outcomes

4. The CCG and its Governing Body accept, and act in 
accordance with, collective accountability, along with 
drawing on the strengths and expertise of individual 
contributions

5. The CCG, through its Governing Body, ensures that 
the views of stakeholders including relevant clinical 
professionals, patients and the public are actively 
sought and used to inform commissioning decisions 
and the likely impact of such decisions

6. Governing bodies have robust processes for decision-
making, as outlined in their constitution, that support 
and maintain transparency and accountability at 
every level.

Highlights of the Work of the Governing  
Body Committees

The roles of each of the Governing Body committees are 
set out below. The committees have authority under the 
scheme of delegation to establish sub-committees or 
sub-groups to enable them to fulfil their role.

Each of the Governing Body committees has terms of 
reference and is authorised by the Governing Body to 
pursue any activity within them and within the Scheme 
of Reservation and Delegation of Powers. The Schemes 
of Delegation of each Governing Body committee are 
referenced within the CCG Constitution and are available 
on the CCG website: www.towerhamletsccg.nhs.uk.
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During 2017/18 the Governing Body met on six 
occasions in public. Business items for each meeting 
were recorded on an annual planner and the meeting 
agendas were structured to address key matters of 
performance, operations, commissioning and strategy. 
The main areas of focus for the Governing Body 
throughout year were:

• Community Health Services Alliance development

• Developing local sustainable system transformation

• North East London Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan

• London Health Care Devolution

• The quality of service providers including Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) findings

• Re-procurement of Urgent and Emergency Care 
Services (111)

• Establishment of governance arrangements to support 
new ways of working, both borough-led and North 
East London-led

• Establishment and appointment of key leadership 
roles such as the Single Accountable Officer, 
Managing Director and Joint Director of 
Commissioning

• Local winter planning and A&E Recovery

• Agreement of the Better Care Fund Initiative

• Strategic Finance Management

• Constitution Adjustments

Governing Body

10th May 2017
Sam Everington, Simon Hall, Mariette Davis, Henry Black, Sarit Patel, Isabel 
Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohns, Osman Bhatti, Somen Banerjee, Julia Slay, Jane
Milligan, Tan Vandal, Noah Curthoys, Linda Aldous, Maggie Buckell

25th July 2017
Sam Everington, Simon Hall, Mariette Davis, Henry Black, Sarit Patel, Isabel
Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohns, Julia Slay, Virginia Patania, Shah Ali, Imrul 
Kayes Tan Vandal, Linda Aldous, Maggie Buckell

26th September 2017

Jane Milligan, Sam Everington, Simon Hall, Mariette Davis, Henry Black, 
Isabel Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohns, Osman Bhatti, Julia Slay, Victoria
Tzortziou-Brown, Tan Vandal, Noah Curthoys, Linda Aldous, Maggie Buckell, 
Denise Radley, Somen Banerjee, Shah Ali, Virginia Patania, Archna Mathur

28th November 2017

Jane Milligan, Sam Everington, Simon Hall, Mariette Davis, Isabel Hodkinson, 
Judith Littlejohns, Imrul Kayes, Victoria Tzortziou-Brown, Tan Vandal, Noah 
Curthoys, Linda Aldous, Maggie Buckell, Somen Banerjee, Shah Ali , Virginia
Patania, Archna Mathur, Alison Blair

23rd January 2018

Sam Everington, Simon Hall, Jane Milligan, Mariette Davis, Isabel Hodkinson, 
Judith Littlejohns, Henry Black, Victoria Tzortziou-Brown, Tan Vandal, Noah 
Curthoys, Linda Aldous, Somen Banerjee, Shah Ali, Virginia Patania, Archna 
Mathur

27th March 2018
Sam Everington, Simon Hall, Jane Milligan, Henry Black, Mariette Davis, 
Judith Littlejohns, Noah Curthoys, Imrul Kayes, Somen Banerjee, Virginia 
Patania, Julia Slay, Osman Bhatti, Maggie Buckell, Isabel Hodkinson
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The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a statutorily mandated 
committee of the CCG, established in accordance with 
the CCG Constitution. Its role is to seek assurance that 
financial reporting and internal control principles are 
applied, and to maintain an appropriate relationship with 
the organisation’s auditors, both internal and external.

The Audit Committee offers scrutiny of and advice to, 
the Governing Body about the reliability and robustness 
of the CCG’s processes of internal control.

The Audit Committee (under its terms of reference) 
provides an annual report of its work to the Governing 
Body. The Committee met seven times during that 
period and was quorate at each meeting. The 
committee’s cycle of business enables it to carry out 
the key objectives necessary to support its assurances 
regarding the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal 
controls. The committee’s key areas of focus during the 
year included:

• Oversaw the procurement of an internal auditors 
contract from 1 April 2018

• Review of emerging governance arrangements for 
new organisational structure with formation of North 
East London Commissioning Alliance and East London 

Healthcare Partnership

• Assurance from providers regarding Data Security and 
Information Governance after the Wanna-cry Cyber 
Attack

• Risk management and the Board Assurance 
Framework

• Assurance on governance arrangements

• The management of conflicts of interest

• Financial risks and waivers of standing orders

• Amendments to the Constitution

• Internal audit reports

• Reports from counter fraud specialists

• Year-end financial statements and annual governance 
statement

• Liaison with internal and external auditors

• Review of internal control system through internal audit 
The Audit Committee met 6 times during 2017/18:

Audit Committee 

9th May 2017 Mariette Davis, Tan Vandal, Noah Curthoys

22nd May 2017 Mariette Davis, Tan Vandal, Noah Curthoys

11th July 2017 Mariette Davis, Tan Vandal, Noah Curthoys

10th October 2017 Mariette Davis, Noah Curthoys

9th January 2018 Mariette Davis, Noah Curthoys, Tan Vandal

10th March 2018 Mariette Davis, Noah Curthoys
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The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is a statutorily mandated 
committee of the CCG, established in accordance with 
the CCG Constitution. Its aim is to set and review the 
salaries and pensions for Very Senior Managers (VSM), 
which presently are the Accountable Officer, Managing 
Director and Joint Director of Commissioning and Chief 
Finance Officer.

In addition, the committee oversees the remuneration of 
any member of the CCG not covered by national agreed 
pay scales.

The Remuneration Committee took into account the 
establishment and adjustment of leadership roles at 
the CCG and as such discussed the salary and terms 

and conditions of these posts (if VSM). Prior to the 
adjustments in leadership roles, the extension of the 
Chief Officer’s Responsibility increase, the extension of 
the Acting Chief Officer Role and potential redundancy 
payments due to the local changes in leadership were 
discussed. Additionally, once the plans for the new 
leadership structures were confirmed, the Remuneration 
Committee met to discuss the adjustments proposed. 
The Remuneration Committee met five times during 
the year to review and attendance is shown as below. 
Two of these meetings (5th October 2017 and 23rd 
January 2018) were Committees that met in Common 
with the North East London CCGs (City & Hackney 
CCG, Waltham Forest CCG, Newham CCG and Barking, 
Havering and  Redbridge CCGs).

Remuneration Committee

12th September 2017
Maggie Buckell (Chair), Julia Slay, Mariette Davis, Tan Vandal, Noah Curthoys,
Ellie Hobart

25th September 2017
Maggie Buckell (Chair), Mariette Davis, Tan Vandal, Sam Everington, 
Ellie Hobart, Simon Hall

5th October 2017 Maggie Buckell (Chair, Sam Everington, Ellie Hobart, Julia Slay

14th November 2017
Maggie Buckell (Chair), Mariette Davis, Tan Vandal, Ellie Hobart, Noah  
Curthoys, Julia Slay, Simon Hall

23rd January 2018 Sam Everington, Jane Milligan, Ellie Hobart, Noah Curthoys
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The Performance, Activity and Quality Committee & The Finance, Performance and Quality Committee

The Performance, Activity and Quality Committee 
monitors the CCG’s performance and quality of 
providers commissioned by the CCG. Safeguarding 
activity is monitored through the safeguarding 
subcommittee which reports to and provides advice 
to the Performance, Activity and Quality Committee. 
The Performance, Activity and Quality Committee was 
established during 2017/18 along with the Strategic 

Finance and Investment Committee as a result of the 
internal governance changes that were implemented in 
order to provide more focus on performance and quality 
and better support the development of partnership 
working. The monitoring of finance, performance 
and quality was previously conducted by the Finance, 
Performance and Quality Committee which was stepped 
down in 2017.

The Performance, Activity and Quality Committee met 8 times during 2017/18.

26 April 2017 Tanvir Vandal, Mariette Davis, Simon Hal

26 July 2017 Archna Mathur, Tanvir Vandal, Mariette Davis, Simon Hall, Ellie Hobart

23 August 2017 Archna Mathur, Tanvir Vandal, Mariette Davis, Simon Hall, Carrie Kilpatrick

27 September 2017 Archna Mathur, Tanvir Vandal

25 October 2017 Archna Mathur, Tanvir Vandal, Mariette Davis, Simon Hall

29 November 2017 Tanvir Vandal, Mariette Davis, Simon Hall , Alison Blair

24 January 2018 Archna Mathur, Tanvir Vandal, Mariette Davis, Simon Hall, Alison Blair

24 March 2018 Simon Hall, Mariette Davis
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is made up of the CCG senior 
management team, and the Governing Body Chair,  
Vice-Chair and principal clinical leads and is a committee 
that holds key management oversight of many areas 
of CCG Business. The committee’s duties  include 
key strategic and clinical management of the CCG, 
management of financial performance against plans, 
promote the development, partnership and resilience of 
healthcare and social care providers and partners and 
provide clinical and organisation scrutiny of business 
cases, strategies and all other commissioning decisions 
where necessary. During 2017/18, the Committee 
focused on work areas such as:

• Governing Body advice and agenda setting

• Strategic and System Development

• Local healthcare strategy development

• Equality and Diversity including Work Race Equality 
Standards (WRES) and promotion of strategy

• Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response

• General Practice Resilience

• Policy setting and agreement

• Winter Planning

• Local and system governance and risk management The 
Executive Committee met eight times during 2017/18.

Executive Committee

April 2017
Simon Hall, Sam Everington, Archna Mathur, Isabel Hodkinson,
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown

May 2017
Simon Hall, Sam Everington, Archna Mathur, Isabel Hodkinson,
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown, Josh Potter

July 2017 Simon Hall, Archna Mathur, Isabel Hodkinson, Victoria Tzortziou-Brown

September 2017
Simon Hall, Sam Everington, Archna Mathur, Isabel Hodkinson,  
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown

October 2017 Simon Hall, Archna Mathur, Isabel Hodkinson, Victoria Tzortziou-Brown

November 2017
Simon Hall, Sam Everington, Archna Mathur, Isabel Hodkinson,  
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown

January 2018
Simon Hall, Sam Everington, Archna Mathur, Isabel Hodkinson,  
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown

February 2018
Simon Hall, Sam Everington, Archna Mathur, Isabel Hodkinson, Victoria
Tzortziou-Brown, Sam Everington, Alison Blair
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Transformation Board

The Transformation Board led on and monitored the 
Governing Body’s programme of service redesign, 
innovation and transformation. It also supported the 
adoption and diffusion of innovative practice as well as 
promoting research and development. The Transformation 
Board met six times during 2017/18, before it was 
stepped down in September when its business was 
conducted at the Tower Hamlets Together Board as part 
of the new commissioning governance arrangements in 
the borough. Key areas of review include:

 - THT Board Development

 - Commissioning intentions 2018-19

 - QIPP Management

 - Commissioning Decisions

 - Business Cases

Attendance is as follows:

Transformation Board

11 April 2017
Julia Slay (Chair), Isabel Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohn, Victoria  
Tzortziou-Brown, Maggie Buckell, Josh Potter, Noah Curthoys

9 May 2017
Julia Slay (Chair), Isabel Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohns, Victoria  
Tzortziou-Brown, Maggie Buckell, Sam Everington, Simon Hall

13 June 2017
Simon Hall, Isabel Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohns, Victoria Tzortziou-Brown,
Maggie Buckell, Josh Potter

11 July 2017
Julia Slay (Chair), Simon Hall, Isabel Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohns,  
Maggie Buckell, Richard Quinton, Ellie Hobart

8 August 2017
Julia Slay (Chair), Isabel Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohns, Maggie Buckell,  
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown, Somen Banerjee

12 September 2017
Julia Slay (Chair), Isabel Hodkinson, Judith Littlejohns, Maggie Buckell,  
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee

Delegated commissioning arrangements  took  effect 
from April1 2015.  Tower  Hamlets  CCG established a 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee as a Committee 
of the Governing Body with responsibility for delegated 
commissioning arrangements. The Committee is quorate 
with three of the seven  voting members in attendance, 
with at least one Lay member present. Non-voting GP 
observers are excluded from Committee discussions and 
decisions regarding topics where they have a conflict of 
interest. The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is 
made up of the following roles:

Voting members: Lay Member for PPI (Chair), 
Governing Body Nurse (Vice Chair) ,  Lay member 
for Governance, Governing Body Secondary Care 
Consultant, CCG Chief Finance Officer, Independent 
Clinical Adviser, CCG Accountable Officer.

Non-voting members: Health and Wellbeing Board 
representative, Public Health representative, Healthwatch 
representative, LMC representative, two additional CCG 
GP representatives, NHS England representative.

The functions delegated by NHS England, and upon 
which the Committee makes decisions include:

• decisions in relation to Enhanced Services,

• decisions in relation to Local Incentive Schemes 
(including the design of such schemes),

• decisions in relation to the establishment of new GP 
practices (including branch surgeries) and closure of 
GP practices,

• decisions about ‘discretionary’ payments,

• decisions about commissioning urgent care 
(including home visits as required)  for out of area 
registered patients,

• the approval of practice mergers,

• planning primary medical care services in the Area, 
including carrying out needs assessments,

• undertaking reviews of primary medical care services 
in the Area,

• decisions in relation to the management of poorly 
performing GP practices and including, without 
limitation, decisions and liaison with the CQC 
where the CQC has reported non• compliance with 
standards (but excluding any decisions in relation to 
the performers list),

• management of the Delegated Funds in the Area

• Premises Costs Directions Functions,

• coordinating a common approach to the 
commissioning of primary care services with other 
commissioners in the Area where appropriate,

• Other ancillary activities that are necessary in order to 
exercise the Delegated Functions.
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The Committee met on six occasions during the year with attendance at follows.

Primary Care Commissioning Committee Attendance

May 2017
Julia Slay (Chair), Simon Hall, Maggie Buckell, Andrea Antoine, Tan Vandal,
Virginia Patania, Somen Banerjee

June 2017 Maggie Buckell, Mariette Davis, Virginia Patania

September 2017 Julia Slay, Richard Quinton, Simon Hall, Mariette Davis, Tan Vandal

November 2017 Julia Slay, Richard Quinton, Simon Hall, Tan Vandal

December 2017 Maggie Buckell, Mariette Davis, Simon Hall, Henry Black, Somen Banerjee

February 2018 Julia Slay, Maggie Buckell, Tan Vandal
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The Strategic Finance and Investment Committee

As outlined in this report, 2017-18 saw the 
implementation of the CCG’s first Strategic Finance 
and Investment Committee. The Strategic Finance 
and Investment Committee oversees the planning and 
strategic direction of the CCG, with the delegated 
authority to approve medium-term financial plans (3 
to 5 years), and from it the annual operating plans for 
each year to ensure the organisation is making financial 
decisions that support the strategic direction of care 
and ensure plans are affordable, sustainable and enable 
statutory duties and business planning rules to be met. 
SFIC is the committee that provides recommendations 
to the Governing Body, on an annual basis, that the 
commissioning intentions are affordable and approve 
requests for new in-year investments and confirming 
funding source. Additionally, SFIC is the CCG vehicle 
to oversee the CCG process for managing clinical 
procurement activity, with the Procurement Working 
Group reporting into SFIC on a monthly basis. The 
Strategic Finance and Investment Committee was 
established during 2017/18 as a result of the internal 
governance changes that were implemented in order to 
better support the development of partnership working. 
The monitoring of finance was previously conducted by 
the Finance, Performance and Quality Committee which 
was stepped down in 2017.

The procurement working group oversees the detailed 
supervision of procurements and provides a clear 
audit trail for the Strategic Finance and Investment 
Committee.

Key areas of review included:

• Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 
Management

• Commissioning Proposals

• Medium/Long Term Strategic analytic Output

• Commissioning Intentions

• Contract Variation Process 2018/19

• Procurement decisions and awards

• Transformation programmes

• Operating plan 2018/19

• Long term financial planning
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Locality Board

The Locality Board was established to provide a 
formal platform for two-way dialogue between CCG 
constituent practices and the governing body. It has a 
key role in ensuring the CCG develops and maintains 
effective two-way engagement between the governing 
body members and member practices. The Locality 
Board also ensures that feedback from localities is used 
to support decision making in developing health services 
for Tower Hamlets.

Individual Funding Request (IFR) Panel

The Individual Funding Request panel oversees cases 
where an individual funding request can be made by 
a clinician treating a patient if they believe that there 
are clinical circumstances that are exceptional and the 
patient would benefit from a treatment or service that 
isn’t routinely offered by the NHS. The management 
of Individual Funding Requests for Tower Hamlets 
CCG, Waltham Forest and Newham CCGs has been 

outsourced to the North East London Commissioning 
Support Unit, and our Governing Body Lay Member for 
Corporate Affairs, Noah Curthoys, is a member and our 
CCG representative.

The responsibility of the IFR panel and appeal panels 
includes:

• To uphold and work within the legal context to 
decision making, Consider and determine eligible 
IFRs where the clinical commissioning group is the 
responsible commissioner of NHS care, according to 
the principles set out in the CCG’s IFR policy, and in 
the IFR panel and appeal panel terms of reference

• Refer to the relevant CCG adopted clinical policies 
to determine whether a patient who does not meet 
the criteria in the policy can be considered to be 
exceptional taking the information provided within 
the application into account

Strategic Finance and Investment Committee

June 2017 Noah Curthoys, Simon Hall, Josh Potter, Richard Quinton

July 2017
Noah Curthoys, Mariette Davis, Richard Quinton, Victoria Tzortziou Brown, 
Andrea Antoine, Archna Mathur

August 2017
Noah Curthoys, Simon Hall, Josh Potter, Richard Quinton, Archna Mathur, 
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown, Andrea Antoine

September 2017
Noah Curthoys, Simon Hall, Josh Potter, Richard Quinton, Mariette Davis, 
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown, Isabel Hodkinson

November 2017
Noah Curthoys, Sam Everington, Richard Quinton, Mariette Davis, Alison 
Blair, Isabel Hodkinson, Victoria Tzortziou Brown, Simon Hall

January 2017
Sam Everington, Simon Hall, Isabel Hodkinson, Mariette Davis, Victoria 
Tzortziou Brown, Alison Blair

February 2018
Sam Everington, Simon Hall, Isabel Hodkinson, Mariette Davis, Victoria 
Tzortziou Brown, Alison Blair

March 2018 Victoria Tzortziou Brown, Noah Curthoys, Sam Everington, Simon Hall
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• The appeal panel will review applications where the 
applicant appeals the decision  making process of the 
IFR panel and does not provide any new information 
for consideration.

IFR panel and appeal panel Chair

The chair is responsible for ensuring that:

• Reasonable effort has been made to acquire adequate 
data and intelligence to inform the decision

• All material factors have been taken into account 
and that immaterial factors have been appropriately 
handled

• The rationale for the decision has been explicitly 
recorded, against the terms of this policy, and that the 
conflicting arguments have been managed

• They are available to approve the minutes and letters 
within the specified  time frame following IFR panel 
meetings and to ensure that decisions made are 
correctly reflected

• The IFR panel meetings are quorate in line with the 
Terms of Reference.

• The Chair is accountable to their CCG Governing 
Body for the delivery of this role.

UK Corporate Governance Code

NHS Bodies which NHS Tower Hamlets CCG are not 
required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate 
Governance. However, we have reported on our 
corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon 
best practice available, including those aspects of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant 
to the CCG. This governance statement is intended to 
demonstrate how the CCG had regard to the principles 
set out in the Code considered appropriate for CCGs for 
the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

Discharge of Statutory Functions

In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, 
the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of 
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and 
other associated legislative and regulations. The clinical 
commissioning group is clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible, including any 
restrictions on delegation of those functions.

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly 
allocated to a lead Director. Directorates have confirmed 
that their structures provide the necessary capability and 
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning 
group’s statutory duties.

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness

We have developed a comprehensive risk management 
framework which has been designed to identify specific 
risks, responsibilities, and mitigating actions at both 
a strategic and operational level. Through various 
Committees and reports, including the Audit Committee, 
the Senior Management Team and the Corporate Risk 
Register, high level risks are escalated to the Governing 
Body via the Board Assurance Framework. At a strategic 
level, each risk identified is assigned a Lead Committee 
and it is at this level that that the risk is scrutinised to 
ensure that it is being managed within the boundaries 
of the organisation’s risk appetite where the risk, its 
mitigations and its gaps are discussed in order to provide 
assurance to the Governing Body that the risk is being 
appropriately mitigated against and that objectives are 
pursued within predetermined risk parameters.

The Audit Committee reviews the establishment and 
maintenance of an effective system of integrated 
governance, risk management and internal control across 
all organisational activities which support the achievement 
of the CCG’s strategic and operational objectives.
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The Senior Management Team and Governing Body have 
a responsibility for identifying and managing strategic 
risks for the organisation. Additionally, individual 
teams are accountable for managing operational risks 
associated with their areas of responsibility. Each Senior 
Manager is responsible for ensuring that the Board 
Assurance Framework reflects key risks, controls and 
assurances related to strategic objectives, and that these 
are reviewed regularly.

The Board Assurance Framework provides a 
comprehensive method for effective and focused 
management of the principal risks that arise in meeting 
the CCG’s objectives and ensures that the CCG 
Governing Body:

• Is sighted on its key objectives and risks to achieving 
them;

• Has a process in place for identifying, minimising and 
prioritising risks that may prevent the achievement of 
principal objectives;

• Ensures strategic controls are in place to manage 
those risks;

• Frequently reviews and discusses the assurance it 
receives that these controls are effective and risks are 
managed appropriately.

Capacity to Handle Risk

There is a Governing Body and management 
commitment to effective risk management across the 
CCG. The Governing Body and all committees have 
clearly defined responsibilities for risk management 
including review and discussion of risk registers, 
escalation of risks to the Board Assurance Framework 
and providing effective and detailed narrative to the 
Governing Body. All staff are invited to undertake 
local risk training to ensure they can identify, describe 
and evaluate a risk and our induction programme 

includes mandatory training on high risk areas such 
as information governance, equality and diversity, 
safeguarding and health and safety. Guidance, both 
specialist materials and induction packages, are based on 
best practice in order to ensure that staff reflect current 
and high levels of professionalism.

Risk Assessment

At an operational level, the individual CCG teams review 
all relevant risks each quarter ensuring that risks are 
effectively identified, assessed, managed and monitored 
providing assurance and tracking of effective internal 
controls that provide reasonable assurance of effective 
and efficient operations, financial stewardship, probity 
and compliance with laws and policies.

Incident reporting processes have been communicated to 
all staff through briefings and information on the CCG 
file sharing structures and intranet. An incident reporting 
policy has been implemented and processes to ensure 
learning from incident reports is captured and fed into 
the risk management process.

The following risks were identified by the CCG as 
significant during 2017/18 and remedial work to  
address the issues continues:

• Failure to ensure effective systems and processes 
are in place to monitor, challenge and support Barts 
Health NHS Trust delivery of NHS Constitution targets 
and CQC action plan could result in the increased 
likelihood of poor quality, poor patient experience, 
delivery of poor clinical outcomes and the trust 
remaining in special measures in the longer term.

• The financial deficit of one of our main providers, 
Barts Health NHS Trust.

• Overspending in a number of acute services.

• Sustainability and resilience of General Practice in 
Tower Hamlets.
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• The newly established Community Healthcare Services 
Alliance failing to deliver its targets and losing its 
organisational form, thus impacting the healthcare of 
Tower Hamlets patients.

• The possible impact of the deteriorating position of 
Continuing Healthcare, and the resulting increase 
in financial pressures and decrease in quality and 
performance.

• Failure to deliver the CCG’s QIPP target and 2017/18 
operating plan.

• Lack of clarity in the development of local 
commissioning arrangements.

The CCG approached all risks with vigour, and ensured 
mitigations were in place in order to address the severity 
and likelihood via consistent review by the Governing 
Body and its committees to ensure that actions to address 
any gaps had been implemented. We will continue to 
work to address areas where a current risk rating exceeds 
the organisation’s risk appetite for that risk.

Financial risks

The CCG transferred £0.5m in-year surplus (over and 
above the carry-forward surplus) to Barking, Havering 
and Redbridge CCGs under the 2017/18 NEL Risk 
Share Framework in support of the neighbouring 
health geography within the NEL system, ensuring the 
money stayed in the system to support the continuation 
of patient care and service. The Strategic Finance & 
Investment Committee (SFIC) is entrusted to provide 
in depth scrutiny of financial, contract and activity 
performance throughout the year by way of reporting 
presented to each meeting and a rotating series of deep 
dive reports presented to the Committee on a monthly 
basis. This has ensured the risk is effectively managed.

Other Sources of Assurance

Internal Control Framework

A system of internal control is the set of processes and 
procedures in place in the clinical commissioning group 
to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically.

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed 
to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness.

The CCG’s strategic objectives were set by the Governing 
Body at the beginning of the 2017/18. From these 
objectives, the main risks to their achievement were 
identified at a risk identification workshop with Governing 
Body members. The BAF and the Corporate Risk Register 
are the key control measures used in the management of 
risk and have been in place since April 1 2013.

Each risk identified is attributed a senior manager risk 
lead and lead committee of the Governing Body who are 
held accountable for the management of these risks. The 
BAF is refreshed bi-monthly through meetings with the 
senior manager risk leads and is reported to the Audit 
Committee and the Governing Body.

The management processes for the BAF were reviewed 
in 2017/18 by our internal auditors, and we received 
“substantial assurance” opinion with a small number 
of recommendations and examples of best practice 
to be implemented. The Internal Audit Opinion noted 
that, “taking account of the issues identified, the 
Governing Body can take substantial assurance that 
the controls upon which the organisation relies to 
manage the identified risk(s) are suitably designed, 
consistently applied and operating effectively.” As 
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part of the internal audit work RSM UK selected two 
risks to perform a ‘deep dive’ on to ascertain whether 
mitigating controls were working in practice and 
whether associated risk management processes were 
operating as intended. RSM UK found that there were 
no management actions to raise in regards to the design 
of the control framework, but made two medium 
recommendations regarding its application. Overall, RSM 
UK noted a number of well-designed controls with good 
application, highlighting NHS Tower Hamlets CCG’s 
proactive approach to appropriate risk management.

Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest Management

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of 
interest for CCGs (published June 2017) requires CCGs 
to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of 
interest management and to support CCGs to undertake 
this task, NHS England has published a template audit 
framework.

Tower Hamlets CCG commissioned Risk Assurance 
Services LLP (RSM) to conduct audits on the CCG’s 
internal controls including the CCG’s Conflict of Interest 
and Gifts and Hospitality Functions. RSM report to the 
Governing Body board via the Governing Body’s Audit 
Committee, which is chaired by the CCG’s Lay Member 
for Governance and Conflict of Interest Guardian, 
Mariette Davis. RSM conduct audits based on a plan 
approved by the Audit Committee at the beginning of 
the financial year and report at every audit Committee 
on their findings and recommended actions the CCG 
should implement.

In January 2018, an audit was undertaken by RSM at 
Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to 
evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of the 
arrangements that the CCG has in place to manage 
conflicts of interest and gifts and hospitality, including 
compliance with NHS England’s statutory guidance 
on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs. After an 

extensive review of the CCG’s Conflict of Interest and 
Gifts and Hospitality controls, RSM considered the CCG 
to be fully compliant and received a substantial opinion 
which indicates Conflicts of Interest arrangements to 
be strong. The audit highlighted many well designed 
and applied controls, noting that the CCG followed 
best practice and had initiated areas of control that 
supported the effective management of Conflicts of 
Interest. Recommendations for the improvement of the 
application and administration of the CCG’s Conflicts of 
Interest procedures were actioned in February 2018 and 
RSM reported these findings and subsequent actions to 
the March 2018 Audit Committee.

Data Quality

We use an array of data from various sources to support 
our Governing Body and our strategic and operational 
decision making and we recognise the importance 
that data quality plays in both service provision and 
service planning. Our Senior Management review the 
quality of information that supports and influences 
our governance, working with the Governing Body’s 
committees to ensure the quality of data used by the 
Governing Body is accurate and fit for purpose. All 
data that is forwarded to the Governing Body has been 
discussed, and analysed at a committee meeting prior 
to being submitted for discussion, noting or a formal 
decision at the Governing Body.

In line with the “need to know” principles set out in 
the Caldicott 2 Information Governance Review Report, 
the CCG ensures that information presented to the 
Governing Body and other governance forums does 
not include any personally identifiable data and that 
commercially sensitive information is not made publicly 
available. In the CCG’s Annual Governing Body Survey, 
90% of Governing Body members were confident in the 
quality of the data they had received.
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Information Governance

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the 
processes and procedures by which the NHS handles 
information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information 
Governance Framework is supported by an information 
governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning 
group, other organisations and to individuals that 
personal information is dealt with legally, securely, 
efficiently and effectively.

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust 
information governance systems and processes in place 
to help protect patient and corporate information. 
We have established an information governance 
management framework and are developing information 
governance processes and procedures in line with the 
information governance toolkit. We have ensured all 
staff undertake annual information governance training 
and have implemented a staff information governance 
handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information 
governance roles and responsibilities.

The information assets provided by the Commissioning 
Support Unit to the CCG are covered by the overarching 
Information Technology Service Level Agreement 
between the CSU and the CCG. For these assets they 
are then further protected by the CSU IT infrastructure 
controls, data disaster recovery and backup services and 
network security controls including firewalls, antivirus 
and encryption programs.

There are also role based access controls for information 
assets which staff require which are approved by ICT 
once signed off by local managers so that staff have only 
access to those assets which are needed for their work 
and at the right level of access especially for services 
using personal data.

The CSU operates as an Accredited Safe Haven (ASH) 
and as a Controlled Environment for Finance to ensure 
that patient confidential data is used in ways that 
prevent the identity of individuals to whom that data 
relates from being identified and thereby limiting the 
personal confidential data received by the CCG.

The CCG conducted a Data Flow Mapping exercise to 
identify and record uses of data across the organisation 
and the controls in place to ensure its legitimate and 
secured use. Any potential new flows at the CCG are 
reviewed with the CSU IG team to ensure any potential 
risks to the data are assessed and any actions required 
are implemented.

There are processes in place for incident reporting and 
investigation of serious incidents. We are developing 
information risk assessment and management 
procedures and a programme of face to face training, 
awareness materials and information sessions has 
been established to fully embed an information risk 
culture throughout the organisation against identified 
risks. As part of this embedded culture of Information 
Governance best practice, this year saw the introduction 
of the CCG’s Information Governance Steering 
Group, chaired by the CCG’s Senior Information Risk 
Owner and is made up of key CCG leaders, data users 
and governing body members to ensure the CCG’s 
oversight of information governance risk is robust and is 
championed by all levels of staff.

During 2017/18, the CCG rolled out its General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) implementation plan 
across the organisation, ensuring preparedness and 
awareness of the new legislation and its effect on data 
use, management, security and impact on individual 
rights. The CCG’s historic approach to Information 
Governance provides a substantial platform to reach 
compliance by GDPR’s introduction on 25 May 2018 
and this work will continue through to and beyond the 
introduction of the Regulation.
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As part of the CCG’s annual Information Governance 
processes, the CCG assessed itself using the Information 
Governance Toolkit against established standards in 
the areas of Information Governance Management, 
Confidentiality and Data Protection Assurance, 
Information Security Assurance and Clinical Information 
Assurance. The CCG were assessed as fully compliant 
(level 2 and above) in all relevant standards, achieving 
89% compliancy. This is an improvement on previous 
years of 73% compliance and lower in previous years, 
demonstrating the CCG’s active approach to ensuring 
that robust and efficient information governance systems 
and processes are in place.

Business Critical Models

We are satisfied that all business critical models have 
been identified and that specialist staff are employed 
to develop, use and quality assure each. The Senior 
Responsible Officer for each process ensures it is 
compliant and appropriate, that model risks, limitations 
and major assumptions are understood and the use 
of the model outputs is appropriate. In line with the 
recommendations in the Macpherson Report, the CCG 
has developed a framework to assure their quality and 
information about quality assurance processes for those 
models has been provided to the Analytical Oversight 
Committee, chaired by the Chief Analyst in the 
Department of Health.

Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of 
the Use of Resources

The CCG has a comprehensive governance and reporting 
framework in place to monitor the use of resources, 
identify any issues and ensure the appropriate measures are 
taken to address any variance from plans. The Governing 
Body receives regular summary reports concerning the 
CCG’s financial performance, and has delegated authority 
both to the Strategic Finance and the Audit Committee to 
conduct more detailed scrutiny and report back.

Strategic Finance and Investment Committee (SFIC) 
convenes monthly to scrutinise the detailed operational 
financial performance of the CCG. The committee 
receives detailed and timely reports covering both 
corporate CCG management costs and all aspects of 
commissioning spend, as well as considering key risks 
and opportunities. The committee reviews the reports 
in detail and instructs the relevant CCG management 
function to carry out investigations into areas of 
concern, and prepare remedial action plans if necessary. 
The SFIC is chaired by the Lay Member for Corporate 
Affairs and is also attended by the lay Member for 
Governance, Managing Director, Director of Integrated 
Commissioning and the Chief Finance Officer. The CCG 
intends to review membership with a view to increasing 
the input from Governing Body members.

The Audit Committee is chaired by the Governing Body 
Lay Member for Governance. The Lay Member for 
Corporate Affairs and the Secondary Care Clinician are 
also members. The Audit Committee performs the role 
of oversight and scrutiny of CCG policies, procedures 
and systems of internal control, with a particular focus 
on ensuring that conflicts of interest are managed in line 
with the CCG’s Constitution.

Underpinning the CCG’s governance framework are the 
Prime Financial Polices which set out the key business 
rules which govern the organisation, including internal 
control, audit, standards of business conduct and 
budgetary control. They also incorporate the scheme of 
delegation. This sets out the level of authority to act and 
make decisions which has been delegated from the CCG 
Governing Body to the various executive committees, in 
addition to the authorisation limits set by the Governing 
Body for the management posts within the organisation 
to authorise expenditure.
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Delegation of Functions

Much of the CCG’s commissioning spend is covered 
by contracts commissioned by the CCG to the North 
East London Commissioning Support Unit (NEL CSU). 
The nature of the CSU as an arm’s length but not fully 
independent entity means that NHSE do not have 
comprehensive processes of internal audit or controls 
assurance in place, instead commissioning an external 
supplier to conduct a service audit and prepare a report 
for customers at the end of the year.

To address this significant area of business management 
and risk, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP have been 
commissioned by Tower Hamlets CCG to conduct a more 
comprehensive assurance process of the CSU in addition 
to the CCG’s internal audit contract.

The CSU provides advice and support across many areas 
of commissioning to 12 clinical commissioning groups in 
the North Central and East London areas, including the 
following for Tower Hamlets CCG:

• Procurement Services

• Continuing Healthcare Management

• Contract Management

• Human Resources

• Complaints

• Information Governance

• Communications

• IT Services

RSM UK’s CCG Assurance Audit Plan covers these 
delegated areas, and in 2017/18 RSM stated that the 
CSU have been assigned reasonable assurance opinions 
in the areas reviewed, with two exceptions relating to 

Procurement and Continuing Healthcare where partial 
assurance opinions were assigned, noting that action 
was needed to strengthen the control framework in 
relation to these areas to manage the identified risks.

RSM’s Head of Internal Audit stated:

Based on the work we have undertaken to date on the 
CCGs system on internal control, we do not consider 
that within these areas there are any issues that need 
to be flagged as significant control issues within the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS), although the CCG 
may wish to consider the potential significance of the 
control issues identified during the course of the CCG 
Continuing Healthcare review and the CSU Procurement 
review, both provided with partial assurance opinions. 
The CCG may also wish to consider whether any other 
issues have arisen, including the results of any external 
reviews which it might want to consider for inclusion in 
the Annual Governance Statement.

Continuing Healthcare

In 2017/18, the CCG Governing Body, with support 
from its committees and the CCG’s Senior Management 
Team, noted concerns regarding the implementation 
of the Continuing Health Care (CHC) function and 
highlighted the need for a deep dive assessment 
of the Continuing Healthcare service. The CCG has 
commissioned the CSU to deliver the CHC contract 
on its behalf, and asked for a review of CHC to be 
undertaken as part of the 2017/18 approved internal 
audit plan.

A partial assurance was issued for the service for both 
the CCG and the CSU RSM Reviews. RSM noted several 
areas which required further review, including issues 
with overspend, the application and compliance with 
control framework and data quality.
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RSM noted that the Continuing Healthcare audit was 
requested by the CCG in order to evaluate the concerns 
that the CCG felt were present. The audit recognised 
the CCGs’ work in putting in place improvement 
programmes, and noted that substantial plans had 
been developed in order to address the issues raised 
by both the CCG and RSM UK. RSM UK noted that 
the CCG had included the CHC contract on its Board 
Assurance Framework, with the risks discussed at length 
at the Governing Body meetings and the Performance, 
Activity and Quality Committee. The CCG continues to 
support NELCSU to complete the management actions 
advised by RSM UK and has remained on the board 
assurance framework to ensure continued progress of 
improvement plans.

Procurement

An audit of the North East London Commissioning 
Support Unit’s Procurement service, which is delivered 
on behalf of the CCG, was conducted as part of the 
approved Assurance Plan for 2017/18. This review 
assessed the various processes and controls in place 
at the CSU to ensure that the CCG is provided with 
a high-quality service, achieves the highest value for 
money from the procurement process and ensures that 
the procurement process is open, transparent and is in 
line with NHS requirements. The review focused on the 
service provided to the 12 North East London CCGs and 
included the service provided to Tower Hamlets CCG. 
A Partial Assurance Opinion was issued, predominately 
based on the review of the overall procurement process 
undertaken by the CSU on behalf of the CCGs.

RSM raised three high and one medium priority 
management actions in relation to the application of 
the control framework. The audit acknowledged that 
a number of actions requires the CSU to work with 
the CCGs to establish and agree the procurement 
processes, clarify roles and responsibilities between the 
organisations and highlighted the need for the service 

specifications between the parties to be strengthened. 
We will continue to work with our NEL CCG colleagues 
and NEL CSU colleagues to achieve delivery of these 
management actions, and have implemented local 
improvement plans which have been built on the review 
of the procurement strategy, its accompanying processes 
and the establishment of the procurement working 
group at the CCG.

Counter Fraud Arrangements

NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group is 
committed to tackling fraud and bribery and ensuring 
that all staff are aware of the reporting lines that should 
be followed should any suspicions or concerns arise. The 
CCG has contracted an accredited Local Counter Fraud 
Specialist (LCFS) from RSM UK, whose purpose is to raise 
fraud awareness across the CCG, ensure weaknesses 
within systems are identified, making recommendations 
where necessary to strengthen these and that the 
organisation has the necessary controls in place to 
mitigate the risk of fraud or bribery occurring. LCFS are 
also responsible for investigating allegations of fraud 
and bribery and managing the work plan and annual 
submission against the NHS Counter Fraud Authorities 
Standards 2017/18. It is recognised that the existence 
of fraud and bribery prevents NHS funds providing 
maximum benefit to patients and that this needs to be 
reduced to an absolute minimum through awareness, 
fostering a supportive reporting culture and ensuring 
counter fraud arrangements are considered at all points 
of the commissioning cycle.

The LCFS provides an accessible point of contact for any 
concerns regarding fraud or bribery issues. In order to 
achieve greater awareness, during 2017/18, LCFS has 
provided fraud and bribery training for the Governing 
Body members, CCG employees, GPs and practice staff 
via the locality meetings.
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Additionally, as part of the Counter Fraud Specialist 
Service:

• The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against 
each of the Standards for Commissioners at least 
annually. There is executive support and direction 
for a proportionate proactive work plan to address 
identified risks.

• Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS 
Counter Fraud Authority quality assurance 
recommendations.

The Chief Finance Officer, as an executive member of 
the Governing Body, is proactively and demonstrably 
responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption 
and works closely with the CCG’s Governance Team 
and Governing Body to ensure that appropriate counter 
fraud work is proactive and proportionate in addressing 
identified risks. The Chief Finance Officer also provides 
executive support and direction for the LCFS work plan, 
and attends the Audit Committee, Executive Committee 

and Governing Body to ensure appropriate link in within 
the CCG Governance Structure and leadership.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion

Following completion of the planned audit work for 
the financial year for the clinical commissioning group, 
the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk 
management, governance and internal control. The 
Head of Internal Audit concluded that:

The organisation has an adequate and effective framework 
for risk management, governance and internal control.

However, our work has identified further enhancements 
to the framework of risk management, governance and 
internal control to ensure that it remains adequate and 
effective.

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit 
reports: 

CCG Internal Audit Plan

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given

Financial Planning, Management, Reporting &
QIPP Delivery

Substantial

Governance - Transforming Services Together –
WEL POD

Reasonable

Conflicts of Interest Substantial

Board Assurance Framework Substantial

Continuing Healthcare Partial Assurance
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CSU Quality Assurance plan – RSM

Review of the Effectiveness of Goernance, Risk 
Management and Internal Control

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, 
executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical 
commissioning group who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on performance information 
available to me. My review is also informed by comments 
made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter 
and other reports.

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence 
that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to 
the clinical commissioning group achieving its principal 
objectives have been reviewed.

I have been advised on the implications of the result of 
this review by:

• The Governing Body

• The Audit Committee

• If relevant, the Performance Activity and Quality 
Committee

• Internal audit

• Other explicit review/assurance mechanisms.

Conclusion

I am satisfied the systems outlined in this statement 
reflect an organisation  that operates  with effective and 
sound systems of internal control and confirm that there 
have been no internal control issues to report during 
2017/18.

Jane Milligan 
Accountable Officer 
24th May 2018

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given

Data Quality and Performance Management Reasonable Assurance

Continuing Healthcare Partial Assurance

Procurement Partial Assurance

Recruitment Reasonable Assurance

Provider Quality Management Reasonable Assurance

Acute and Non-Acute Contracting Reasonable Assurance
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2.21.Remuneration Report

Policy on the Remuneration of Senior Managers

The Remuneration Committee is a statutorily mandated 
committee of the CCG, established in accordance with 
the CCG Constitution. Its aim is to set and review the 
salaries and pensions for very senior managers (VSM), 
during 2017/18. In addition, the committee oversees the 
remuneration of any member of the CCG not covered by 
national agreed pay scales.

The Committee will exercise delegated authority 
from the CCGs Governing Body to agree rates of 
remuneration for CCG members and very senior 
management staff. This will cover:

• all aspects of salary (including any performance-
related elements/bonuses)

• provisions for other benefits, including pensions  
and cars

• arrangements for termination of employment and 
other contractual terms

The Remuneration Committee will make 
recommendations to the Governing Body on 
determinations about the remuneration, fees and other 
allowances for employees  and for people  who provide 
services to the group and on determinations about 
allowances under any pension scheme that the group may 
establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme.

Further information about the Remuneration Committee, 
such as key areas of discussion and membership, can be 
found in the annual governance statement.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers

During 2017 /18, no senior manager at NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG was paid more than £150,000 per annum 
(the salary of the prime Minister).

2.2 Remuneration and Staff Report
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The Pensions Related Benefits (PRB) figure is calculated 
using the method set out in the Finance Act 2004(1), 
and includes using the member’s current and prior year 
pension and lump sum figures. Where there has been 
only a small increase in pension and lump sum benefits 
current year compared to last year, this formula can 
sometimes generate a negative figure. Where this is 
the case, Department of Health guidance states that a 
“zero” should be substituted for any negative figures.

Certain individuals disclosed in the Salary and 
Allowances table are not included in the Pension Benefits 
table. The reasons for this include:

• Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable 
remuneration;

• An executive director may have opted out of the 
pension scheme; or

• For those Governing Body members who are GPs, and 
who have a contract for service for their Governing 
Body duties, pension benefits disclosures are not 
required.

The table below shows the Pension Benefits of Senior 
Managers in 2017/18

Pension Benefits as at  
31 March 2018
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Note:

1. The North East London Commissioning Alliance Accountable Officer is the appointed officer for 7 CCGs: NHS 
Barking and Dagenham, Havering, Redbridge, Waltham Forest, Newham, Tower Hamlets, City and Hackney. Her 
total Pensions figures are shown below:

2. he Chief Finance Officer is the appointed officer for NHS Tower Hamlets CCG and, from 1st February, NHS 
Waltham Forest CCG. His total Pensions figures are shown below:

Real 
increase in 
pension at 
retirement 

age

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase 
in pension 

Lump Sum at 
retirement  

age

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
retirement 
age at 31st 
March 2018

(bands of 
£5,000)

Lump Sum at 
retirement 

age related to 
accrued pen-
sion at 31st 
March 2018

(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 1st 
April 2017 

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Real 
increase 
in cash 

equivalent 
transfer 

value

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31st March 
2018 

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Employer’s 
contribution 
to stakehold-

er pension

(to nearest 
£1,000)

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Ms Jane 
Milligan

Chief Officer to 30 
Nov 2017 NEL 
Commissioning 
Alliance Accountable 
Officer from 1 Dec 
2017

0 - 2.5 -2.5 to 0 40 to 45 100 to 105 666 59 732 0

Real 
increase in 
pension at 
retirement 

age

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase 
in pension 

Lump Sum at 
retirement  

age

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
retirement 
age at 31st 
March 2018

(bands of 
£5,000)

Lump Sum at 
retirement 

age related to 
accrued pen-
sion at 31st 
March 2018

(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 1st 
April 2017 

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Real 
increase 
in cash 

equivalent 
transfer 

value

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31st March 
2018 

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Employer’s 
contribution 
to stakehold-

er pension

(to nearest 
£1,000)

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Henry Black

Chief Finance Officer 
- Tower Hamlets & 
Waltham Forest CCG
from 1 Feb 2018

0 - 2.5 -2.5 to 0 25-30 50-55 272 6 312 0
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The Pensions Related Benefits (PRB) figure is calculated 
using the method set out in the Finance Act 2004(1), 
and includes using the member’s current and prior year 
pension and lump sum figures. Where there has been 
only a small increase in pension and lump sum benefits 
current year compared to last year, this formula can 
sometimes generate a negative figure. Where this is 
the case, Department of Health guidance states that a 
“zero” should be substituted for any negative figures.

Certain individuals disclosed in the Salary and 
Allowances table are not included in the Pension Benefits 
table. The reasons for this include:

• Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable 
remuneration;

• An executive director may have opted out of the 
pension scheme; or

• For those Governing Body members who are GPs, and 
who have a contract for service for their Governing 
Body duties, pension benefits disclosures are not 
required.

The table below shows the Pension Benefits of Senior 
Managers in 2016/17

NAME TITLE

2016/17

Real 
increase 

in pension 
at pension 

age

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real 
increase 

in pension 
Lump 

Sum at 
pension 

age

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 

age at 31st 
March 2017

(bands of 
£5,000)

Lump Sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31st March 

2017

(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 1st 
April 2016

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Real 
increase 
in cash 

equivalent 
transfer 

value

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 

31st March 
2017

(to nearest 
£1,000)

Employer’s 
contribution 

to stakeholder 
pension

(to nearest 
£1,000)

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Ms Jane 
Milligan

Chief Officer 0 to 2.5 -2.5 to 0 40 to 45 100 to 105 666 40 732 0

Mr Simon 
Hall

Director of Commissioning 
(9th May 2016 to 31st Aug 

2016)

Acting Chief Officer (from 
1st Sept 2016)

2.5 to 5 5 to 7.5 45 to 45 110 to 115 625 76 710 0

Mr Henry 
Black

Chief Financial Officer/ 
Deputy Chief Officer

2.5 to 5 0 to 2.5 20 to 25 50 to 55 237 35 272 0

Mr Josh 
Potter

Interim Director of  
Commissioning

0 to 2.5 0 to 2.5 15 to 20 25 to 30 99 14 123 0
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Cash equivalent transfer values

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially 
assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits 
accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits 
and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. A CETV 
is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement 
to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme 
or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former 
scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits 
that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their 
total membership of the pension scheme, not just their 
service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.

The CETV figures and the other pension details include 
the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or 
arrangement which the individual has transferred to the 
NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional 

pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of 
their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated 
within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the 
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the 
employer. It does not include the increase in accrued 
pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred 
from another scheme or arrangement).

Pension Contribution Rates

All staff including senior managers are eligible to join 
the NHS pension scheme. The scheme has fixed the 
employer’s contribution at 14.38% of the individual’s 
salary, per NHS pension regulations. Employee 
contribution rates for CCG officers and practice staff are 
as follows:

Full time pensionable pay/
earnings used to determine 

contribution rate

2017/18 Full time pensionable pay/
earnings used to determine 

contribution rate

2016/17

Up to £15,431.99 5.00% Up to £15,431.99 5.00%

£15,432.00 to £21,387.99 5.60% £15,432.00 to £21,477.99 5.60%

£21,488.00 to £26,823.99 7.10% £21,478.00 to £26,823.99 7.10%

£26,824.00 to £49,472.99 9.30% £26,824.00 to £47,845.99 9.30%

£49,473.00 to £70,630.99 12.50% £47,846.00 to £70,630.99 12.50%

£70,631.00 to £111,376.99 13.50% £70,631.00 to £111,376.99 13.50%

£111,377.00 and over  14.50% £111,377.00 and over 14.50%
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Pay multiples

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship 
between the remuneration of the highest-paid 
director/Member in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/
Member in NHS Tower Hamlets CCG in the financial year 
2017/18 was £115k-£120k (2016/17: £135k-£140k). 
This was 2.69 times (2016/17: 3.3) the median 
remuneration of the workforce, which was £43,618 
(2016/17: £41,630).

In 2017/18, no employees received remuneration 
in excess of the highest-paid director/Member. 
Remuneration ranged from £0k-£5k to £115k-£120k 
(2016/17: £0-£5k to £135k to £140k).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated 
performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not 
severance payments. It does not include employer 
pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer 
value of pensions.
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2017 - 18

Total Admin Programme

Permanent 
Employees

Other Total
Permanent 
Employees

Other Total
Permanent 
Employees

Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 5,321 2,419 7,740 1,858 675 2,533 3,462 1,744 5,206

Social security costs 586 0 586 210 0 210 376 0 376

Employer Contributions to  

NHS Pension scheme
622 0 622 207 0 207 416 0 416

Apprenticeship Levy 13 0 13 13 0 13 0 0 0

Termination benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 6542 2419 8961 2288 675 2963 4254 1744 5998

Less recoveries in respect of employee 

benefits
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total - Net admin employee benefits 

including capitalised costs
6,542 2,419 8,961 2,288 675 2,963 4,254 1,744 5,998

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net employee benefits excluding 

capitalised costs
6,542 2,419 8,961 2,288 675 2,963 4,254 1,744 5,998

2016 - 17

Total Admin Programme

Permanent 
Employees

Other Total
Permanent 
Employees

Other Total
Permanent 
Employees

Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,500 2,170 5,670 1,730 549 2,279 1,770 1,621 3,391

Social security costs 407 0 407 200 0 200 207 0 207

Employer Contributions to  

NHS Pension scheme
447 0 447 216 0 216 231 0 231

Apprenticeship Levy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Termination benefits 27 0 27 0 0 0 27 0 27

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,381 2,170 6,550 2,146 549  2,694 2,235 1,621 3,856

Less recoveries in respect of employee 

benefits
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total - Net admin employee benefits 

including capitalised costs
4,381 2,170  6,550 2,146 549 2,694 2,235 1,621 3,856

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net employee benefits excluding 

capitalised costs
4,381 2,170 6,550 2,146 549 2,694 2,235 1,621 3,856

Staff Costs

Staff Report

*The increase in staff costs in 2017-18 has arisen primarily as a result of the development of system wide programmes where staff have been 
engaged by the CCG. These include the development of Tower Hamlets Together and the East London Health and Care Partnership.
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Staff composition by gender

As of 31 March 2018, the CCG’s ‘Very Senior Managers’ 
and all other employees were broken down by gender, 
as follows:

*Please note that the Very Senior Managers are the Band 9s and above 
and excludes Governing Body members, Clinical Leads and officer 
holders. VSM members of staff in this table include VSM who are 
engaged by the CCG in system wide programmes such as the East Lon-

don Health and Care Partnership.

Sickness Absence Data

Our sickness absence rate is defined as the percentage 
of Full Time Equivalent days lost, from those that were 
available to be worked within the period in question. 
The sickness absence rate for the CCG as at the end 
of March 2018, was 3.33%, with 1100 days lost to 
sickness absence. 

April 2017 – March 2018

* Total Staff Years = Average FTE (Worked out by adding up all the FTE 
reported over the financial year and dividing by 12)

Staff Policies

We have developed our equality and diversity strategy 
which provides  a framework  to support  the CCG in 
delivering its strategic priorities and focus on the public 
sector equality duty in the provision of services and to 
our workforce.

The strategy contains the mechanisms to ensure equality 
and diversity is integral in day to day business planning 
and decision making processes.

Accountability for equality and diversity in our Governing 
Body sits with the chair of the CCG. The Managing 
Director is the executive lead for equality and is 
supported by the deputy director of Corporate Affairs.

In addition, there is a nominated clinical lead for 
equality on the Governing Body. All employees including 
Governing Body members are required to undertake 
equality and diversity training as part of their mandatory 
training.

The nine protected characteristics under the public sector 
equality duty include disabled staff. We have made full 
and fair consideration to job applicants who are disabled 
and have adapted the recruitment process accordingly- 
to enable them to participate fully in the process.

In 2017/18 we trained several members of staff at the 
CCG as Display Screen Equipment (DSE) assessors, and 
conducted a local awareness plan to raise the profile 
of the Health and Safety (Display Screen Equipment) 
Regulations 1992 which applies to a majority of CCG 
staff. The initial DSE assessment is now included as part 
of staff inductions and periodically reviewed during 
staff appraisal processes. As part of this work, we have 
adapted a number of work stations to better suit our 
staff and their individual needs.

Where the CCG has staff who are disabled  we ensured 
adjustments  were made  to allow full integration 
into the workforce including training and learning 
development opportunities. A copy of our equality 
and diversity strategy can be found on the NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG website. www.towerhamletsccg.nhs.uk.

All other employees Very Senior Manger

Number Percentage Number Percentage

Female 77 65% 3 33%

Male 41 35% 6 67%

Grand 

Total
118 100% 9 100%

Total Days Lost 1100.76

Total Staff Years 100.64

Average Working Days Lost 10.94

Cumulative % Absence Rate (FTE) 3.33%

Number of sickness episodes 125

Number of persons retiring on  

ill health grounds
0
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Expenditure on consultancy

Expenditure on consultancy for 2017/18 is shown in the table below:

Off-payroll engagements

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day and that last longer than six months:

Table 2: New off-payroll engagements

Where the reformed public sector rules apply, entities must complete Table 2 for all new off-payroll engagements, or 
those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day 
and that last for longer than 6 months:

Total (£000) Admin (£000)
Programme 

(£000)

36 1 35

Number

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 
April 2017 and 31 March 2018

17

Of which:

Number assessed as caught by IR35 12

Number assessed as not caught by IR35 10

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the departmental 
payroll

0

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes during the year 4

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency review 0

 Number

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018 13

Of which, the number that have existed:

for less than one year at the time of reporting 15

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 5

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 2

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0
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Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with significant financial responsibility, 
between 01 April 2017 and 31 March 2018.

v       Number

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with 

significant financial responsibility, during the financial year
3

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed “board members, 

and/or, senior officials with significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year. 

This figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

23

 
Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments

There were no exit packages in 2017/18.

2.3 Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and 
Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges 
are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report. An audit certificate and report is also included in this 
Annual Report.
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Section Three: Annual Accounts

Entity name:
This year
Last year
This year ended
Last year ended
This year commencing:
 Last year commencing:

Data entered below will be used throughout the workbook:

NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group 2016-17
2017-18
2016-17
31-March-2018
31-March-2017
01-April-2017
01-April-2016

Jane Milligan
Accountable Officer
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 
24th May 2018

Simon Hall 
Managing Director
NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG 24th May 2018

Henry Black
Chief Finance Officer 
NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG 24th May 2018
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Note
2017-18 2016-17

£000 £000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (9,459) (9,199)

Other operating income 2 (705) (73)

Total operating income (10,164) (9,272)

Staff costs 4 8,961 6,550

Purchase of goods and services 5 422,207 407,982

Provision expense 5 (2) 2 

Other Operating Expenditure 5 476 547

Total operating expenditure 431,642 415,081

Net Operating Expenditure 421,478 405,809

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 2017-18 421,478 405,809

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018

The notes on pages 108 to 118 form part of 

this statement
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Note
2017-18 2016-17

£000 £000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 8 11 0

Total non-current assets 11 0

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 9 7,077 7,917

Cash and cash equivalents 10 44 259

Total current assets 7,121 8,176

 

Total assets 7,132 8,176

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 (61,859) (57,584)

Provisions 12 0 (2)

Total current liabilities (61,859) (57,586)

 

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (54,727) (49,410)

Non-current liabilities 0 0

Assets less Liabilities (54,727) (49,410)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (54,727) (49,410)

Total taxpayers' equity: (54,727) (49,410)

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2018

The notes on pages 108 to 118 form part of  

this statement

The financial statements on pages 104 to 107 were 

approved by the Governing Body on 24 May 2018 and 

signed on its behalf by:

Jane Milligan 

Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31 March 2018

General Fund Total Reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

Balance at 01 April 2017 (49,410) (49,410)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from 

closed NHS bodies
0 0

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at  

31 March 2018
(49,410) (49,410)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ 

equity for 2017-18

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (421,478) (421,478)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

Expenditure for the Financial Year
(421,478) (421,478)

Net funding  416,16 416,161

Balance at 31 March 2018 (54,727) (54,727)

General Fund Total Reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Balance at 01 April 2016 (54,216) (54,216)

Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a 

result of the 1 April 2013 transition
0 0

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at  

31 March 2017
(54,216) (54,216)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ 

equity for 2016-17

Net operating costs for the financial year (405,809) (405,809)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

Expenditure for the Financial Year
(405,809) (405,809)

Net funding  410,615 410,615

Balance at 31 March 2017 (49,410) (49,410)

The notes on pages 108 to 118 form part of  

this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2018

note 2017-18 2016-17

£000 £000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (421,478) (405,809)

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 841 (3,445)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 4,263 (1,290)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 (2) 2

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (416,376) (410,542)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (416,376) (410,542)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 416,161 410,615

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 416,161 410,615

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 (215) 73

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the  

Financial Year
259 186

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at 

the End of the Financial Year
44 259

The notes on pages 108 to 118 form part of  

this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1.      Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial 
statements of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG shall 
meet the accounting requirements of the Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department 
of Health. Consequently, the following financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Group Accounting Manual 2017-
18 issued by the Department of Health. The 
accounting policies contained in the Group 
Accounting Manual follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards to the extent that they 
are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG, as determined by HM Treasury, 
which is advised by the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting 
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, 
the accounting policy which is judged to be 
most appropriate to the particular circumstances 
of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG for the purpose of 
giving a true and fair view has been selected. 
The particular policies adopted by NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG are described below. They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items 
considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1    Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going 
concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going 
concerns where the continuation of the provision 
of a service in the future is anticipated, as 
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for 
that service in published documents.

Where a Clinical Commissioning Group 
ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its 
services will continue to be provided (using 
the same assets, by another public sector 
entity) in determining whether to use the 
concept of going concern for the final set of 
Financial Statements. If services will continue 
to be provided the financial statements are 
prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2    Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention modified to account for 
the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

1.3    Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if 
they are taken on from outside the public sector. 
Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only 
if they cease entirely. They are not considered to 
be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public 
sector body to another.
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1.4    Movement of Assets within the  
         Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be 
accounted for by use of absorption accounting 
in line with the Government Financial Reporting 
Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government 
Financial Reporting Manual does not require 
retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions 
(which have been accounted for under merger 
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption 
accounting requires that entities account for 
their transactions in the period in which they 
took place, with no restatement of performance 
required when functions transfer within the 
public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, 
the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, 
and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the 
Department of Health Group are accounted for in 
line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income 
and expenditure entries.

1.5   Pooled Budgets

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has entered into pooled 
budget arrangement under Section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006. NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG accounts for its share of the assets, 
liabilities, income and expenditure arising from 
the activities of the pooled budgets, identified in 
accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

1.5.1  Better Care Fund

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG Better Care Fund plan 
was confirmed by NHS England on 7th January 
2015. The plan was in effect from 1st April 2015. 
The planned expenditure in the Better Care 
Fund plan is £25m in 2017/18. These costs are 
included in the Note 15 Better Care Fund.

1.6    Critical Accounting Judgements & Key 
         Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG’s 
accounting policies, management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from those 
estimates and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1   Critical Judgements in Applying 
           Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart 
from those involving estimations (see below) that 
management has made in the process of applying  
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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1.6.2   Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that 
management has made in the process of applying 
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.6.3   Partially completed spells

Expenditure relating to patient care spells that are 
part-completed at the year-end are notified by 
the Provider trusts through the NHS Agreement 
of Balances exercise. The closing partially 
completed spells accruals has been netted off 
with the opening partially completed spells 
accruals, with any resulting difference charged 
to operating expenses. Partially completed spells 
totalled £2,149k, (£1,887k at 31 March 2017) 
and is included within Note 11 NHS Accruals.

1.6.4   Maternity pathways

Expenditure relating to all antenatal maternity 
care is made at the start of a pathway. As a 
result, at the year-end part completed pathways 
are treated as a prepayment. The CCG agrees to 
use the figures calculated by the local Providers. 
Maternity pathways prepayment totalled

£1,315k, (£1,373k at 31 March 2017) and 
is shown in Note 9 NHS Prepayments.

1.6.5   Prescribing liabilities

NHS England actions monthly cash charges to the 
CCG for prescribing contracts. These are issued 
approximately six weeks in arrears. The CCG uses 
a forecast provided by the NHS Business Services 
Authority to estimate the full year expenditure. 
Included in Note 11 Non-NHS Accruals is prescribing 
accrual of £5,962k, (£6,352k at 31 March 2017).

1.7    Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is 
recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity 
that is to be delivered in the following year, that 
income is deferred.

1.8    Employee Benefits

1.8.1   Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related 
payments are recognised in the period in which 
the service is received from employees, including 
bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by 
employees at the end of the period is recognised 
in the financial statements to the extent that 
employees are permitted to carry forward leave 
into the following period.

1.8.2   Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the 
provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The 
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme 
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and 
other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The 
scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share 
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it 
were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to 
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 
payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
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For early retirements other than those due to ill 
health the additional pension liabilities are not 
funded by the scheme. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is charged to 
expenditure at the time NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment.

Some employees are members of the Local 
Government Superannuation Scheme, which is 
a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme 
assets and liabilities attributable to those 
employees can be identified and are recognised 
in NHS Tower Hamlets CCG’s accounts. The 
assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities 
at the present value of the future obligations. The 
increase in the liability arising from pensionable 
service earned during the year is recognised 
within operating expenses.

The expected gain during the year from scheme 
assets is recognised within finance income. 
The interest cost during the year arising from 
the unwinding of the discount on the scheme 
liabilities is recognised within finance costs. 
Actuarial gains and losses during the year are 
recognised in the General Reserve and  
reported as an item of other comprehensive  
net expenditure.

1.9    Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, 
and to the extent that, the goods or services 
have been received. They are measured at the fair 
value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are 
recognised when NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has 
a present legal or constructive obligation, which 
occurs when all of the conditions attached to the 
payment have been met.

1.10  Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1   Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

• It is held for use in delivering services or for 
administrative purposes;

• It is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to, or service potential will be supplied to 
the clinical commissioning group;

• It is expected to be used for more than one 
financial year;

• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; 
and,

• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

•  Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at 
least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more 
than £250, where the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous 
purchase dates, are anticipated to have 
simultaneous disposal dates and are under single 
managerial control; or,

• Items form part of the initial equipping and 
setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, 
irrespective of their individual or collective cost
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Where a large asset, for example a building, 
includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, the components 
are treated as separate assets and depreciated 
over their own useful economic lives.

1.10.2  Valuation

All property, plant and equipment are measured 
initially at cost, representing the cost directly 
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset 
and bringing it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. All assets are 
measured subsequently at valuation.

Land and buildings used for NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG’s services or for administrative purposes are 
stated in the statement of financial position at 
their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at 
the date of revaluation less any impairment.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are 
not materially different from those that would be 
determined at the end of the reporting period. 
Fair values are determined as follows:

• Land and non-specialised buildings – market 
value for existing use; and,

• Specialised buildings – depreciated 
replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach 
to depreciated replacement cost valuations based 
on modern equivalent assets and, where it would 
meet the location requirements of the service 
being provided, an alternative site can be valued.

Properties in the course of construction for 
service or administration purposes are carried 
at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which 
are recognised as expenses immediately, as 
allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. 
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences 
when they are brought into use.

Fixtures and equipment are carried at 
depreciated historic cost as this is not 
considered to be materially different 
from current value in existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to 
the revaluation reserve except when it reverses 
an impairment for the same asset previously 
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is 
credited to expenditure to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged there. A revaluation 
decrease that does not result from a loss of 
economic value or service potential is recognised 
as an impairment charged to the revaluation 
reserve to the extent that there is a balance 
on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to 
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a 
clear consumption of economic benefit are taken 
to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in 
the revaluation reserve are reported as other 
comprehensive income in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.10.3  Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an 
asset beyond its original specification, the directly 
attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent 
expenditure restores the asset to its original 
specification, the expenditure is capitalised and 
any existing carrying value of the item replaced is 
written-out and charged to operating expenses.
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1.11  Intangible Assets

1.11.1  Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets 
without physical substance, which are capable 
of sale separately from the rest of NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG’s business or which arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. They are 
recognised only:

• When it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, NHS Tower Hamlets CCG;

• Where the cost of the asset can be measured 
reliably; and,

• Where the cost is at least £5,000.

Intangible assets acquired separately are 
initially recognised at fair value. Software that 
is integral to the operating of hardware, for 
example an operating system, is capitalised as 
part of the relevant item of property, plant and 
equipment. Software that is not integral to the 
operation of hardware, for example application 
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. 
Expenditure on research is not capitalised 
but is recognised as an operating expense in 
the period in which it is incurred. Internally-
generated assets are recognised if, and only if, 
all of the following have been demonstrated:

• The technical feasibility of completing 
the intangible asset so that it 
will be available for use;

• The intention to complete the 
intangible asset and use it;

• The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;

• How the intangible asset will generate probable 
future economic benefits or service potential;

• The availability of adequate technical, 
financial and other resources to complete 
the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,

• The ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the intangible 
asset during its development.

1.11.2 Measurement

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditure incurred from the date when 
the criteria above are initially met. Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be 
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the 
period in which it is incurred.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets 
are carried at current value in existing use by 
reference to an active market, or, where no 
active market exists, at the lower of depreciated 
replacement cost or the value in use where the 
asset is income generating. Internally-developed 
software is held at historic cost to reflect the 
opposing effects of increases in development 
costs and technological advances.

1.12  Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

Freehold land, properties under construction, and 
assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are 
charged to write off the costs or valuation of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible 
non-current assets, less any residual value, over 
their estimated useful lives, in a manner that 
reflects the consumption of economic benefits or 
service potential of the assets.
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The estimated useful life of an asset is the period 
over which NHS Tower Hamlets CCG expects to 
obtain economic benefits or service potential from 
the asset. This is specific to NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG and may be shorter than the physical life of 
the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed each year end, with the effect 
of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG checks whether there is any indication that 
any of its tangible or intangible non-current 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
there is indication of an impairment loss, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to 
determine whether there has been a loss and, if 
so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment annually. 

A revaluation decrease that does not result from 
a loss of economic value or service potential is 
recognised as an impairment charged to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that there 
is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, 
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses 
that arise from a clear consumption of economic 
benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an 
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but 
capped at the amount that would have been 
determined had there been no initial impairment 
loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is 
credited to expenditure to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged there and thereafter 
to the revaluation reserve.

1.13  Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases.

1.13.1  NHS Tower Hamlets CCG as Lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance 
leases are initially recognised, at the inception of 
the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, with a 
matching liability for the lease obligation to the 
lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between 
finance charges and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
Finance charges are recognised in calculating NHS 
Tower Hamlets CCG’s surplus/deficit.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a 
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the 
land and building components are separated 
and individually assessed as to whether they are 
operating or finance leases.
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1.14  Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any 
financial institution repayable without penalty 
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 
months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and 
cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and that form an integral part of NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG’s cash management.

1.15  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that NHS Tower Hamlets CCG will 
be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. The amount recognised as a 
provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s 
discount rate as follows:

• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): 
Minus 2.420% (previously: minus 2.70%)

•  Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): 
Minus 1.85% (previously: minus 1.95%)

•  Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 
1.56% (previously: minus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursements will be received and the amount 
of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

A restructuring provision is recognised when 
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has developed a 
detailed formal plan for the restructuring and 
has raised a valid expectation in those affected 
that it will carry out the restructuring by starting 
to implement the plan or announcing its main 
features to those affected by it. The measurement 
of a restructuring provision includes only the 
direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, 
which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not 
associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.16  Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme 
under which NHS Tower Hamlets CCG pays an 
annual contribution to NHS Resolution which in 
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The 
contribution is charged to expenditure. Although 
NHS Resolution is administratively responsible 
for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability 
remains with the clinical commissioning group.
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1.17  Non-clinical Risk Pooling

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG participates in the 
Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities 
to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 
pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation 
Authority and, in return, receives assistance 
with the costs of claims arising. The annual 
membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims are 
charged to operating expenses as and when they 
become due.

1.18  Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by 
NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for 
claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the 
scheme, NHS Tower Hamlets CCG contributed 
annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle 
the claims. The final year that NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG was required to contribute the pool was 
2016/17.

1.19  Contingencies 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 
arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of NHS 
Tower Hamlets CCG, or a present obligation that 
is not recognised because it is not probable that a 
payment will be required to settle the obligation 
or the amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent 
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a 
payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises 
from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG. A contingent asset is disclosed where an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, 
contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.20  Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when NHS 
Tower Hamlets CCG becomes party to the 
financial instrument contract or, in the case of 
trade receivables, when the goods or services 
have been delivered. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the contractual rights have 
expired or the asset has been transferred.

All financial assets are classified 
as loans and receivables.

1.20.1  Loans & Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments which are not quoted in an active 
market. After initial recognition, they are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment. Interest is 
recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to 
quoted market prices where possible, 
otherwise by valuation techniques.
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At the end of the reporting period,  NHS Tower 
Hamlets CCG assesses whether any financial 
assets, other than those held at ‘fair value 
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial 
assets are impaired and impairment losses 
recognised if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events 
which occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset and which has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the 
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of the revised future cash 
flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure 
and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through expenditure to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the receivable at the date 
of the impairment is reversed does not exceed 
what the amortised cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised.

1.21  Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the 
statement of financial position when NHS 
Tower Hamlets CCG becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument or, in the case of trade payables, 
when the goods or services have been received. 
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when 
the liability has been discharged, that is, 
the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.21.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, except for loans 
from Department of Health, which are carried 
at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the life of the asset, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest 
is recognised using the effective interest method. 

1.22  Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 
are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, 
output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is 
charged to the relevant expenditure category or 
included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT 
is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.23  Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that 
Parliament would not have contemplated when 
it agreed funds for the health service or passed 
legislation. By their nature they are items that 
ideally should not arise. They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures compared 
with the generality of payments. They are 
divided into different categories, which govern 
the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the 
relevant functional headings in expenditure on 
an accruals basis, including losses which would 
have been made good through insurance cover 
had NHS Tower Hamlets CCG not been bearing 
its own risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.24  Joint Operations

Joint operations are activities undertaken 
by NHS Tower Hamlets CCG in conjunction 
with one or more other parties but which 
are not performed through a separate entity. 
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG records its share 
of the income and expenditure; gains and 
losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.

1.25  Accounting Standards That Have Been 

Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The DHSC Group accounting manual does 
not require the following Standards and 
Interpretations to be applied in 2017-18. These 
standards are still subject to FREM adoption and 
early adoption is therefore not permitted.

• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments  
( application from 1 January 2018)

• IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
(not applicable to DH groups bodies)

• IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers 
(application from 1 January 2018)

• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)

• IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 
January 2021)

• IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration (application from 1 January 2018)

• IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
(application from 1 January 2019)

The application of the Standards as revised would 
not have a material impact on the accounts for 
2017-18, were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue

2017-18
Total

2016-17
Total

£000 £000

Education, training and research 495 606

Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: 
non-NHS

15 0

Non-patient care services to other bodies 8,964 8,593

Other revenue 690 73

Total other operating revenue 10,164 9,272

3. Revenue

2017-18
Total

2016-17
Total

£000 £000

From rendering of services 10,164 9,272

0 0

Total 10,164 9,272
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2017-18
Total

Permanent 
Employees

Other

£000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 7,740 5,321 2,419

Social security costs 586 586 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 622 622 0

Apprenticeship Levy  13 13 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 8,961 6,542 2,419

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits 0 0 0

Total - Net admin employee benefits including 

capitalised costs
8,961 6,542 2,419

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 8,961 6,542 2,419

4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1 Employee benefits

The increase in staff costs in 2017-18 has arisen primarily as a result of the development of system wide programmes 

where staff have been engaged by the CCG. These include the development of of Tower Hamlets Together and the 

East London Health and Care Partnership.
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2016-17
Total

Permanent 
Employees

Other

£000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 5,670 3,500 2,170

Social security costs 407 407 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 447 447 0

Termination benefits  27 27 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 6,550  4,381 2,170

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits 0 0 0

Total - Net admin employee benefits including 

capitalised costs
6,550  4,381 2,170

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 6,550 4,381 2,170

4.2 Average number of people employed

2017-18 2016-17

Total Number
Permanently

employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

Total 104 92 12 85

Number of whole time equivalent 
people engaged on capital projects

0 0 0 0
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4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

2016 - 2017

Compulsory 
redundancies

Other agreed departures Total

Number £ Number £ Number £

Less than £10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£10,001 to £25,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£25,001 to £50,000 1 26,950 0 0 1 26,950

£50,001 to £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£100,001 to £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£150,001 to £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

Over £200,001 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1 26,950 0 0 1 26,950

2017-2018

Compulsory 
redundancies

Other agreed departures Total

Number £ Number £ Number £

Less than £10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£10,001 to £25,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£25,001 to £50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£50,001 to £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£100,001 to £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

£150,001 to £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

Over £200,001 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with 

these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous period.

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change.

Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the 

 year of departure.
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4.4 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the 
provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of 
the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be 
found on the NHS Pensions website at  
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pensions.

Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover 
NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State in England 
and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way 
that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of 
the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were 
a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS 
body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal 
to the contributions payable to that scheme for the 
accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised 
in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by 
a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, 
with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An 
outline of these follows:

4.4.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually 
by the scheme actuary (currently the Government 
Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting 
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the 
previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 
membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust 
figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation 
of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on 
valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 
2018 with summary global member and accounting 

data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM 
Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme 
is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, 
which forms part of  the annual NHS Pension Scheme 
Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS 
Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can 
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of 
liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes 
(taking into account recent demographic experience), 
and to recommend contribution rates payable by 
employees and employers.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for 
the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year 
ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow 
for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the 
Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM 
Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme 
Actuary and employee and employer representatives as 
deemed appropriate. The next actuarial valuation is to be 
carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being 
prepared. The direction assumptions are published by 
HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation 
calculations, from which the final valuation report can 
be signed off by the scheme actuary. This will set the 
employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 
and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the 
employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public 
Service  Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or 
contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by 
more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ 
assessment, any required revisions to member benefits 
or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary 
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of State for Health after consultation with the relevant 
stakeholders.

For 2017-18, employer’s contributions of £621,083 
were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2016-17: 
£469,736) at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. 
The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, 
usually every four years and now based on HMT 
Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. 
The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and 
was published on the Government website on 9 June 
2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line 
of note 4.1.
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5. Operating expenses

2017-18
Total

2016-17
Total

£,000 £,000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 8,301 5,989

Executive governing body members 660 561

Total gross employee benefits 8,961 6,550

Other costs

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 4,765 6,447

Services from other foundation trusts 86,130 63,458

Services from other NHS trusts 183,102 200,502

Services from other WGA bodies 5 4

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 62,999 46,362

Purchase of social care 1,309 1,334

Chair and Non Executive Members 476 547

Supplies and services – clinical 3 0

Supplies and services – general 4,361 9,341

Consultancy services 1,311 863

Establishment 317 209

Transport 0 1

Premises 140 1,095

Audit fees 51 76

Prescribing costs 31,431 32,706

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 45,312 43,857

Other professional fees excl. audit 730 1,288

Legal fees 150 27

Education and training 91 184

Provisions (2) 2

CHC Risk Pool contributions  0 228

Total other costs 422,681 408,531

Total operating expenses 431,642 415,081

* Fees paid and payable to the CCG’s external auditor, KPMG LLP are:
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2017-18 2016-17

Statutory Audit
Services

Other services
Statutory Audit

Services
Other services

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Audit Fee 42 0 60 0

Addition for PCC relating to 15/16 
paid in 16/17

0 0 3 0

VAT Payable 9 0 13 0

Total 51 0 76 0

2017 - 2018 2016-17

Number £,000 Number £,000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid 
in the Year

8,235 116,350 7,402 104,824

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid 
within target

7,845 113,102 7,086 98,931

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade 
invoices paid within target

95.26% 97.21% 95.73% 94.38%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the 
Year

2,839 271,033 3,276 277,235

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid with-
in target

2,549 268,181 3,025 275,360

Percentage of NHS Trade  
Invoices paid within target

89.79% 98.95% 92.34% 99.32%

6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance

The contract signed on 21st December 2017, states that the liability of KPMG LLP, its members, partners and staff 
(whether in contract, negligence or otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed £500k, aside from where the liability 
cannot be limited by law. This is in aggregate in respect of all services

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG incurred no interest charged for late payment of invoices under the Late Payment of 

Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998.
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7. Operating Leases

7.1 As lessee

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Buildings Other
2017-18

Total
Buildings Other 

2016-17
Total

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 111 0 111 960 0 960

Contingent rents 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sub-lease payments 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 111 0 111 960 0 960

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

Buildings Other
2017-18

Total
Buildings Other 

2016-17
Total

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Payable:

No later than one year 276 0 276 276 0 276

Between one and five years 0 0 0 276 0 276

After five years 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 276 0 276 552 0 552

The reduction in lease payment in 2017/18 in comparison to 2016/17 is due to the credits received from Barts Health 
for £808k, for Subsidies paid for by Tower Hamlets CCG relating to 2015/16.

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG entered into an operating lease arrangement with Barts Health NHS Trust as lessee of the 
Alderney Building. The annual payment is £275,978. The lease was extended up to the 30/03/2019. The annual 
payment is subject to RPI reviews in accordance with the terms of the lease.

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG occupies property owned and managed by Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS 
Property Services Ltd. since 2013-14, a transitional occupancy rent based on annual property cost allocations was 
agreed. While our arrangements with Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property Services Ltd fall within 
the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note 
does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.

Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18

127



8. Property, plant and equipment
2017-2018

Information 
Technology

Total

£,000 £,000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017 0 0

Additions purchased 11 11

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2018 11 11

Depreciation 01 April 2017 0 0

Charged during the year 0 0

Depreciation at 31 March 2018 0 0

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018 11 11

Purchased  11 11

Total at 31 March 2018 11 11

Asset financing:

Owned 11 11

Total at 31 March 2018 11 11

Minimum
Life (years)

Maximum
Life (Years)

Information technology 1 3

8.1 Economic lives
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9 Trade and other receivables

Current Non-current Current Non-current

2017 - 2018 2016-17

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

NHS receivables: Revenue 3,346 0 4,684 0

NHS prepayments 1,315 0 1,373 0

NHS accrued income 960 0 262 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA 
payables: Revenue

446 0 58 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued 
income

689 0 1,157 0

VAT 311 0 199 0

Other payables and accruals 10 0 184 0

Total Trade & other receivables 7,077 0 7,917 0

Total current and non-current 7,077 7,917

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2017-18 2017-18 2016-17

£'000 £'000 £'000

DH Group Bodies
Non DH Group  

Bodies
All receivables prior 

years

By up to three months 0 1938 2276

By three to six months 0 287 261

By more than six months 0 495 660

Total 0 2,720 3,197

£554,150 of the amount above has subsequently been 
recovered post the statement of financial position date.
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10. Cash and cash equivalents

2017-18 2017-18

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 259 186

Net change in year (215) 73

Balance at 31 March 44 259

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 43 258

Cash in hand 1 1

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of 

financial position
44 259

Balance at 31 March 44 259

11. Trade and other payables

Current Non-current Current Non-current

2017 - 2018 2016-17

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

NHS payables: revenue 10,376 0 6,341 0

NHS accruals 5,136 0 5,883 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: 
Revenue

5,445 0 4,006 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: 
Capital

11 0 0 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 34,563 0 37,676 0

Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred 
income

21 0 426 0

Social security costs 87 0 80 0

Tax 92 0 84 0

Other payables and accruals 6,128 0 3,088 0

Total Trade & Other Payables 61,859 0 57,584 0

Total current and non-current  61,859 57,584

Other payables include £397k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018 (£420k at 31 March 2017)
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12.  Provisions

Current Non-current Current Non-current

2017 - 2018 2016-17

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Legal claims 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 2 0

Total current and non-current 0 2

Legal Claims Total

£000 £000

Balance at 01 April 2017 2 2

Reserved unused (2) (2)

Balance at 31 March 2018 0 0

Expected timing of cash flows: 

Within one year 0 0

Between one and five years 0 0

After five years 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2018 0 0

Legal claims are calculated from the number of claims currently lodged with the NHS Resolution and the 

probabilities provided by them.
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13 Contingencies

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has no contingent liabilities or 
assets at 31 March 2018 (£nil at 31 March 2017).

14. Financial instruments

14.1. Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of 
the role that financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in 
undertaking its activities.

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed 
through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the 
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, 
financial instruments play a much more limited role in 
creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed 
companies, to which the financial reporting standards 
mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-
to-day operational activities rather than being held to 
change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group 
in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the 
finance department, within parameters defined formally 
within the NHS clinical commissioning group standing 
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing 
Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS 
clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.

14.1.1. Currency risk

The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally 
a domestic organisation with the great majority of 
transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK 
and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning 
group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical 
commissioning group and therefore has low exposure 
to currency rate fluctuations.

14.1.2. Interest rate risk

The clinical commissioning group borrows from 
government for capital expenditure, subject to 
affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The 
borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life 
of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the 
National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. 
The clinical commissioning group therefore has low 
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

14.1.3. Credit risk

Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning 
group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, 
NHS clinical commissioning group has low exposure to 
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of 
the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

14.1.4. Liquidity risk

NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate 
within revenue and capital resource limits, which are 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. 
The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash 
to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical 
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to 
significant liquidity risks.
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At ‘fair 
value 

through 
profit and 

loss

Loans and 
Receivables

Total

At ‘fair 
value 

through 
profit and 

loss

Loans and 
Receivables 

Total

2017-18 2016-17

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Receivables:

NHS 0 4,306 4,306 0 4,946 4,946

Non-NHS 0 1,134 1,134 0 1,214 1,214

Cash at bank and in hand 0 44 44 0 259 259

Other financial assets 0 10 10 0 185 185

Total at 31 March 0 5,494 5,494 0 6,604 6,604

14.2 Financial assets

14.3 Financial liabilities

At ‘fair 
value 

through 
profit and 

loss

Other Total

At ‘fair 
value 

through 
profit and 

loss

Other Total

2017-18 2016-17

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Payables:

NHS 0 15,512 15,512 0 12,225 12,225

Non-NHS 0 46,147 46,147 0 44,769 44,769

Total at 31 March 0 61,659 61,659 0 56,994 56,994

Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18

133



15. Operating segments

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG have only one segment: 
commissioning of healthcare services.

16.  Pooled budgets

On 1st April 2017 NHS Tower Hamlets CCG entered 
into the Better Care Fund pooled budget arrangement 
with London Borough of Tower Hamlets Local Authority 
and other Local providers. In line with IFRS 11 joint 
control over the pooled funds exists. However the 
members of the fund have agreed to have one lead 
body to commission services from providers. As a 
result NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has entered into a lead 
commissioning arrangement whereby the risks and 

rewards of the contractual obligation of the pool fund 
lay with each respective commissioner.

All financial risks and rewards appropriate to the CCG 
are included within the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the 
income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget 
in the financial year were:

2017-18 2016-17

£000 £000

Expenditure (25,003) (21,463)

17. Related party transactions

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is required to disclose 
transactions and outstanding balances with its related 
parties.

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG's governing body, Department 
of Health , all other Government Departments and 
individuals/entities controlled or influenced by them, are 
considered as being related to NHS Tower Hamlets CCG.

17.1. Related party transactions 2017-18

The transactions listed below are in relation to interests 
declared by the Governing Body members (excluding 
transactions with practices, Department of Health bodies 
and Other Government Departments)
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Expenditure
with Related

Party

Revenue
from

Related Party

Amounts
owed to 

Related Party

Amounts
due to 

Related Party

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

BMA Council 4 0 0 0

Bow Health Network CIC 447 0 84 0

Bromley by Bow Health Centres 29 0 0 0

Community Health Partnerships 0 0 124 0

East End Health Network 661 0 0 0

Healthy Island Partnership 735 0 5 0

Hunter Healthcare Health 311 0 0 0

Kings Fund Trustee 1 0 0 0

Local Medical Council 208 0 0 0

Mile End East and Bromley by Bow 846 0 0 0

One Network 734 0 129 0

Poplar & Limehouse Health & Wellbeing 
Network CIC

840 0 2 0

Queen Mary University, London 463 0 0 0

Royal College of General Practitioners 1 0 0 0

Stepney & Whitechapel Network 654 0 3 0

The Highway Network 808 0 0 0

Tower Hamlets GP Care Group CIC 15,593 0 40 0

2017-18

The transactions listed below are in relation to those practices where one of the GPs of that practice is or has been a 
member of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG's Governing Body during 2017-18
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Expenditure
with Related

Party

Revenue
from

Related Party

Amounts
owed to 

Related Party

Amounts
due to 

Related Party

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Albion Practice 1,096 0 0 0

All Saints' Practice 1,460 0 0 0

Jubilee Street Practice 1,614 0 0 0

St Andrew's Health Centre 3,176 0 0 0

St. Katharine's Dock Practice 210 0 0 0

The Barkantine Practice 4,217 0 0 0

The Chrisp Street Practice 1,521 0 0 0

The Mission Practice 1,456 0 0 0

Tredegar Practice 543 0 0 0

XX Place, St Andrew's 2,076 0 0 0

Royal College Of General Practitioners 2 0 0 0

Stepney & Whitechapel Network 839 0 0 0

The One Network 820 0 0 0

Tower Hamlets GP Care Group CIC 3,247 0 197 0

2017-18

The following Department of Health bodies had material 
transactions during 2017-18 with NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG:

• Barts Health NHS Trust

• East London NHS Foundation Trust

• Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust

• Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

• London Ambulance Service NHS Trust

• Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

• NHS North & East London Commissioning Support Unit

• University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

The CCG is part of a risk share agreement across the 
North East London CCGs (Barking & Dagenham CCG, 
City & Hackney CCG, Havering CCG, Newham CCG, 
Redbridge CCG, Tower Hamlets CCG and Waltham 
Forest CCG). In 2017/18, the CCG paid funds to Barking 
and Dagenham CCG (£135k), Redbridge CCG (£194k) 
and Havering CCG (£171k) as part of the risk share 
agreement.

All other Government Departments with material  
transactions during 2017-18 with NHS Tower Hamlets 
CCG are:

• Tower Hamlets London Borough Council
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17.2. Related party transactions 2016-17

The transactions listed below are in relation to interests declared by the Governing Body members  
(excluding transactions with practices, Department of Health bodies and Other Government Departments)

Expenditure
with Related

Party

Revenue
from

Related Party

Amounts
owed to 

Related Party

Amounts
due to 

Related Party

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Bow Health Network CIC 801 0 0 0

East End Health Network 782 0 0 0

Healthy Island Partnership 851 0 9 0

Highway Network (N4) 780 0 136 0

Hurley Clinic 42 0 7 0

Kings Fund 4 0 0 0

Londonwide LMCs 193 0 0 0

Mile End East & Bromley By Bow Health CIC 921 0 0 0

Poplar & Limehouse Health & Wellbeing 
Network CIC

1,088 0 0 0

Poplar Harca (1) 0 0 0

Royal College Of General Practitioners 2 0 0 0

Stepney & Whitechapel Network 839 0 0 0

The One Network 820 0 0 0

Tower Hamlets GP Care Group CIC 3,247 0 197 0

2016-17

The transactions listed below are in relation to those 
practices where one of the GPs of that practice is or has 
been a member of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG's Governing 
Body during 2016-17
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Expenditure
with Related

Party

Revenue
from

Related Party

Amounts
owed to 

Related Party

Amounts
due to 

Related Party

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Albion Health Centre 1,025 0 32 0

All Saints Practice 1,150 0 0 0

Barkantine Practice 4,000 0 317 0

Bromley by Bow Centre 73 0 0 0

Chrisp Street Practice 1,609 0 54 0

Jubilee Street Practice 1,730 0 34 0

St Andrews Health Centre 2,808 0 241 0

St Pauls Way Health Centre 1,651 4 94 0

St. Katharine Docks Practice 234 0 10 0

The Mission Practice 1,441 4 63 0

Tredegar Practice 507 0 3 0

XX Place Health Centre 2,183 0 143 0

2016-17

The following Department of Health bodies had material transactions during 2016-17 with NHS Tower Hamlets CCG:

• Barts Health NHS Trust

• East London NHS Foundation Trust

• Guy’s & St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust

• Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

• London Ambulance Service NHS Trust

• Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

• NHS North & East London Commissioning Support Unit

• University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

All other Government Departments with material transactions during 2016-17 with NHS Tower Hamlets CCG are:

• Tower Hamlets London Borough Council

Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group
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Target Performance
Duty 

achieved?
Target Performance

Duty 
achieved?

2017-18 2016-17

Expenditure not to exceed 
income

432,938 431,653 Yes 427,034 415,081 Yes

Capital resource use does 
not exceed the amount  
specified in Directions

11 11 Yes n/a n/a n/a

Revenue resource use does 
not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions

422,763 421,478 Yes 417,762 405,809 Yes

Capital resource use on 
specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified 
in Directions

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Revenue resource use on 
specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified 
in Directions

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Revenue administration re-
source use does not exceed 
the amount specified in 
Directions

6,403 5,414 Yes 6,299 5,399 Yes

18 Events after the end of the reporting period

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has no events after the end of 
the reporting period.

19 Losses and special payments

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG incurred no losses and special 
payments cases during 2017-18 (no cases at 31 March 
2017).

20 Financial performance targets

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG have a number of financial 
duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
As a result of an amended calculation methodology from 
NHS England, the 2017/18 in year revenue allocation 
has been calculated on the basis of the total allocation, 
adjusted for the historic financial outturn of the CCG. In 
2016/17 the figure was recorded as just the total in year 
allocation notified to the CCG.

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG's performance against those 
duties was as follows:
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Appendix

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) 
Regulations 2017

Table 1 
Relevant Union Officials

What was the total number of your employees who 
were relevant union officials during the relevant period?

Table 2 
Percentage of time spent on facility time

How many of your employees who were relevant union 
officials employed during the relevant period spent a) 
0%, b) 1%-50%, c) 51%-99% or d) 100% of their 
working hours on facility time?

Table 3 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Provide the figures requested in the first column of the 
table below to determine the percentage of your total 
pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant 
union officials for facility time during the relevant period.

Table 4 
Paid trade union activities

As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, how 
many hours were spent by employees who were relevant 
union officials during the relevant period on paid trade 
union activities?

Number of employees 
who were relevant 

union officials during the 
relevant period

Full-time equivalent 
employee number

1 1.00

Percentage of time
Number of 
employees

0%

1-50% 1

51%-99%

100%

First Column Figures

Provide the total cost of 

facility time
£1,210.45

Provide the total pay bill £8,961,000

Provide the percentage of the 

total pay bill spent on facility 

time, calculated as:

0.0134%

Time spent on paid trade union 

activities as a percentage  of total 

paid facility time hours calculated 

as:

(total hours spent on paid trade 

union activities by relevant union 

officials during the relevant period ÷ 

total paid facility time hours) x 100

4 / 0 = 0%
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